“Many of those who were only wounded suffocated, buried alive”
Analyzing the Experiences of Jews who Survived Mass Executions


1. Introduction
“Please let us be brief, Mrs. Yoselewska. It is difficult to recount and difficult to listen to,”[footnoteRef:1] was the request of the Attorney General of Israel to a witness testifying in the Eichmann Trial. The witness was recounting how on August 12, 1942, in Pogost-Zagorodzkii, 40 km from Pinsk, she survived a massacre carried out by the Einsatzgruppen and managed to escape from under the corpses of other Jews. Perhaps the subject of the experiences of those who survived mass executions under corpses is not a well-researched topic in Holocaust studies because the stories are both difficult to tell and difficult to hear.[footnoteRef:2] However, those who were “buried alive” are unique witnesses to the Holocaust for at least two reasons. 	Comment by Author: This sentence was italicized in the source, however other quotes throughout the text do not appear in italics. I have removed the italics here.	Comment by Author: With names of people I have opted for how the name appears in the reference, if I can access it (e.g. here I have used Yoselewksa). If the source does not contain the full name, as is the case here, or I can’t access the source, then I have tried to find the most common spelling of the name, the spelling that will yield the most relevant search results. 	Comment by Author: I understood “[proszę się strzeszczać]” in the source text footnote to be requesting me to remove the English quote in the translation. I have done this, is this what was meant by this comment?	Comment by Author: In terms of names of locations I have opted to use the most popular English version of names or the current native version of names, e.g. this village is in modern-day Belarus, so I have used the Belarussian spelling [1:  Cross-examination of Rivka Yoselewska – https://www.nizkor.org/session-030-04-eichmann-adolf/]  [2:  The only text the author is aware of that deals with this topic is a work by Jacek Leociak in which he focuses not so much on the experience itself, but rather its literary context. See Wyjście z grobu [Leaving the Grave], in Teksty Drugie, 2004 no. 5, pp. 48–63.] 

First, although the Holocaust is mainly associated with death camps, mass executions were used alongside crematoria to exterminate Jews during World War II. Second, these witnesses, direct participants in the events that unfolded, are unique in that they found themselves as close to death as it is possible to be, having survived in graves during mass executions carried out by Germans. It is these people who are the closest to Primo Levi’s “true witnesses,” those who did not survive, and they speak for them.[footnoteRef:3]  [3:  “It is not those who survived who are the true witnesses […] Those who went to the depths, those that did not avoid Medusa’s gaze, they did not return to give testimony, or came back silent. However, it is only them, the Muselmen, the true witnesses caught for eternity, who could give explanations that would make sense […] We speak instead of them, we speak for them.” Primo Levi, Czy to jest człowiek [If This is a Man], Warszawa 1996, pp. 99–100.] 

Most historical accounts describing the mass atrocities committed in the Holocaust focus on the role of the perpetrators, analyzing their behavior and presenting the events from their perspective.[footnoteRef:4] Mass executions are also described from the perspective of witnesses;[footnoteRef:5] however executions have not yet been described from the victims’ point of view, from the perspective of those who survived under corpses. This article seeks to describe the typical model of mass murder, to establish how these events unfolded, and to understand them from the perspective of those who survived under corpses.  [4:  Perhaps the most well-known work on this topic is Christopher R. Browning’s Zwykli ludzie. 101. Policyjny Batalion Rezerwy i “ostateczne rozwiązanie” w Polsce [Ordinary Men: Reserve Police Battalion 101 and the Final Solution in Poland], Warszawa, Bellona 2000. Browning presents the psychological processes and political and social circumstances that meant that a group of normal, middle-aged Hamburg police officers, perfect husbands and fathers in their day-to-day lives, transformed (with only a few exceptions) into vicious mass murderers. They were responsible for rounding up and deporting Jews to camps, as well as their mass execution on occupied Polish territory in 1942.]  [5:  https://www.yahadinunum.org] 

For this study, I chose 263 hundred sixty-three testimonies from the archival material[footnoteRef:6] searched and published sources containing information about people who survived under corpses. I examined both descriptions given by people who themselves had survived as well as second-hand information about others who saved themselves during mass murders, provided by someone who had had direct contact with them. I also looked at stories based on information heard by third parties. Of the sources, 89 were the testimony of Jews who had survived massacres themselves, 85 were secondary accounts that contained information about roughly 160 people who survived under corpses and with whom the author of the report had directly been in contact or had heard the story from,[footnoteRef:7] and 44 other reports contained more vague or imprecise information about people rescued from graves. The authors of 34 testimonies escaped from the grave before the execution and 12 others were rescued at the last moment.	Comment by Author: In the source the acronym for Yahad-in-Unum is provided the second time it is mentioned (in footnote 8). I have moved it to the first time it is mentioned, here in footnote 6.	Comment by Author: I have changed Polish abbreviations to abbreviations that will make it easier for English-speaking readers to follow, e.g. "AŻIH” was changed to "JHIA” (“Jewish Historical Institute’s archives”), while "AYV” was changed to "YVA” ("Yad Vashem archives”)	Comment by Author: I added the names of the institutions to the footnote here, i.e. “Jewish Historical Institute’s archives (JHIA)”. [6:  The Jewish Historical Institute’s archives (JHIA – collections 301 and 302) and Yad Vashem archives (YVA  – 0.3 and 0.33) were searched, as well as archives in the Shoah Foundation (USC VHA) and Yahad-in-Unum (YiU). Published diaries, memories and other available sources (e.g. court proceedings) were also considered.]  [7:  It is difficult to determine a precise number of people when, for example, around 20 people who survived the massacre in Horodenka are mentioned in the six accounts of this event. One of the accounts talks about “ten children and a few women,” another gives specific names and information (“the butcher’s daughter”). Similarly, among five accounts from Ponary, one mentions “six women,” while the other accounts talk about individual people. It is not possible to determine whether these accounts are talking about the same or different people.] 

This text is based on accounts of 91 people who survived mass graves. This resource base is obviously unrepresentative because most victims did not survive the executions, and of those who managed to escape the graves, only a few lived to see the end of the war. Of this small group, only some gave an account of their experience. Information about those who survived under corpses comes from across Europe; these cases occurred from Simferopol in Crimea[footnoteRef:8] to Crvenka in Serbia,[footnoteRef:9] from Kerch[footnoteRef:10] to the Baltic coast[footnoteRef:11] – anywhere where Germans murdered Jews.[footnoteRef:12] Of the 91 analyzed reports of those who escaped, the majority escaped massacres conducted by the Einsatzgruppen (41), followed by who escaped escaping death marches (16), executions during the liquidation of camps (10) or ghettos (9), executions within camps (6) and people who were seized  hiding (5). Two people survived a massacre by the Danube in Budapest, one survived a mass execution during the Warsaw ghetto uprising. The circumstances of each story therefore differ greatly, not only in terms of topography, but also in terms of the different stages of the Holocaust and the length of the victimization that the Jews had suffered by that point. Some people’s experiences were among the first events in the German extermination process, for others it was one of the last. The difference in perception between 1941 and 1945 was immense – by the end of the war, Jews already had extensive experience of persecution, and their knowledge and understanding of German extermination plans were completely different to what they were in 1941. 	Comment by Author: I couldn’t find the name of the location that "Tusce” corresponded to. From the two declensions in the text I guessed that it is called "Tuska” but I couldn’t corroborate this information. The client may want to check this.	Comment by Author: I believe “Sępolno” in this footnote should be “Sępopol” – I have changed this in the translation	Comment by Author: I believe "100” in this footnote should be "103”, as this is what number of locations amounts to – the client may want to change this.	Comment by Author: I assumed that the general reference to an uprising in a ghetto here is referring to the Warsaw Ghetto Uprising (as it often does in Polish – this impression was also reinforced by the information on Henryk Bryskier below). I have added this explicit information to the English as English-speaking readers may not immediately think of the Warsaw Ghetto Uprising.  [8:  Nina Lisicyna, born 1939, survived the execution of Jews at Krasny state farm on the outskirts of Simferopol, see YiU testimony number 103.]  [9:  On September 16, 1944, a column of prisoners from the copper mines in Bor in Serbia set off on a death march to Hungary. On October 6, 1944, they reached Crvenka (Tscherwenka, Cservenka), where the SS shot a thousand of the Jews in a brickyard, with the rest having to continue marching forward. Among those shot was Zalman Teichman (born in Tuska in 1919), who, seriously injured, managed to climb out from under the corpses and survived thanks to the help of local inhabitants. Teichman recorded his story at the end of 1944. It was published by Nathan Eck; see Nathan Eck, The March of Death from Serbia to Hungary (September 1944) and the Slaughter of Cservenka (Story of a survivor of the death pit), Yad Vashem Studies, 2 (1958), pp. 255–294.]  [10:  Josif Wajngertner, a fisherman from Kerch, survived the mass murder of 2,500 Jews carried out on December 1–3 by Germans during their short occupation of the city (November 16–December 29, 1941). See Ilja Erenburg, Wasilij Grossman, Czarna Księga [Black Book], ŻIH, Warszawa 2020, pp. 357–361.]  [11:  After the liquidation of the camp in Stutthof in the autumn and winter of1944, the camp’s prisoners found themselves in smaller camps (including Heiligenbeil [Mamonovo], Schippenbeil [Sępopol] and Seerappen [Lyublino]). All of the smaller camps were liquidated at the end of January 1945, and the thousands of prisoners in these camps were marched to Kaliningrad or directly to Palmnicken [currently Yantarny]. Around 2,000 prisoners died during this death march. On the night of January 27, the remaining 3,000 prisoners reached Palmnicken. They were held in an out-of-use factory for a few days. Meanwhile, the German ship Willhelm Gustloff was torpedoed on January 30. Around 5,000 people died – mainly civilians who were fleeing Eastern Prussia before the Red Army. In the evening of the next day, the column of prisoners was taken from Palmnicken. They were herded to the coast in deep snow and blizzards, after which they were taken onto the ice and shot.]  [12:  Fifty-seven locations are named in the primary sources, while 61 are named in the secondary sources; 15 locations are mentioned in both. The total number of locations in which Jews survived under corpses in the accounts studied is therefore 100.] 

The majority of the testimonies analyzed concern murders carried out during massacres in eastern Europe. Regardless of whether the murders were carried out by the Einsatzgruppen or other groups, guards escorting prisoners, Germans in work camps or liquidating ghettos, from the victims’ perspective, the majority of mass murders looked the same. Nonetheless, people remained alive under the corpses in a variety of places and different circumstances. Some of them escaped the graves, and some of these people survived to the end of the war and gave accounts of their experiences. The experience of escaping the grave links all these people; they all came as close as one can to mass murder – they experienced genocide. Despite all of the differences, the recurring elements found in these accounts of surviving mass executions allow a specific model of this experience to be constructed, which will be presented in this article. This text will not explain  individual people’s stories and will not explore their pasts or later destinies. Rather, the focus here is to describe the typical experience of surviving execution based on the words of those who escaped the graves by trying to understand the meaning that they give to this event.	Comment by Author: The word however appears in the original text, but has been removed in the translation, as however and regardless perform the same function in the sentence.

2. At the graveside
Preparing to murder Jews involved a major practical dimension; a place to gather the bodies needed to be found. Germans made use of any existing trenches, pits and ravines nearby,[footnoteRef:13] as happened in Kiev[footnoteRef:14] or Lviv,[footnoteRef:15] for example. Another example of the use of nature was the drowning of prisoners evacuated from the camps in the Baltic near Palmnicken[footnoteRef:16] in the winter of 1945. Mass executions also took place in urban spaces, often during the liquidation of ghettos, when the elderly and sick were shot on the spot, but also in places such as Ivano-Frankivsk, where a large massacre of 12,000 Jews was organized at the cemetery on October 12, 1941. 	Comment by Author: The number "11” in this footnote was highlighted – I wasn’t sure if this was a mistake but I have removed it in the target.	Comment by Author: Was organized is a correct translation. Organize is a very neutral and passive word. However, “was carried out” could also be used [13:  Sometimes the killing of Jews also occurred without any prior preparation. For example, a mass execution took place in the woods by Józefow Biłgorajski, where the bodies were simply left behind on the ground. The victims were only buried three days later by locals. See Christopher Browning’s Zwykli Ludzie, op. cit., p. 84. These were the first murders carried out by the Battalion 101 described in the book – the next murders were carried out more “professionally.”]  [14:  On September 29–30, 1941, Germans murdered 33,000 Kievan Jews in in a ravine located outside the city called Babi Yar. The ravine is now part of the city. ]  [15:  The murdering of Jews in Lviv started when the Germans initiated a large pogrom, in which Ukrainians also took part, immediately upon entering the city on June 30,1941. From March 1942, the Germans carried out liquidation activity, taking thousands of Jews to Belzec (and to Sobibor in one case) and simultaneously murdering others in the city itself. The main place in which Jews from Lviv were murdered in the city was the “Valley of Death,” located around half a kilometer from the Janowska camp, between the Jewish cemetery and Hora Strat hill at the foot of Kortumova Hora hill, in northwestern Lviv.]  [16:  See footnote 11.] 

Most often, however, the victims had to dig their graves themselves, as occurred in Pavlivka,[footnoteRef:17] Zembin,[footnoteRef:18] the Piatydni woods near Volodymyr-Volynskyi,[footnoteRef:19] Vėliučionys near Naujoji Vilnia,[footnoteRef:20] at the cemetery in Tłuste,[footnoteRef:21] and in Poniatowa, where, according to Estera Winderbaum’s account, “from the end of October 1943, all the prisoners were summoned – we were given spades and ordered to dig trenches near the camp. We did the job with heavy hearts. We were told that these were anti-aircraft trenches and (…) they made us dig them in zig-zags to deceive us.”[footnoteRef:22]	Comment by Author: The word dupe could also be used. [17:  JHIA 301/1934 – Julia Laster’s account.]  [18:  Opowieść starego człowieka [An Elderly Person’s Story], in Czarna Księga, op. cit., p. 285.]  [19:  JHIA, 301/2794 – Dwojra Frymet’s account.]  [20:  JHIA, 301/1978 – Zalman Goldman’s account.]  [21:  Baruch Milch, Testament [Testament], Karta, Warszawa 2012, p. 182.]  [22:  JHIA 301/1013 – Estera Rubinsztajn’s account (married name: Winderbaum). ] 

Jews were sometimes shot close to towns and sometimes further away. In the latter cases, they were driven to or forced to walk dozens of kilometers to their execution site,[footnoteRef:23] an incredibly arduous journey. “I was carrying my daughter and running after the truck, it was around three kilometers from our town,” testified Rivka Yoselewska during the Eichmann Trial.[footnoteRef:24] The time of year could also make the journey more difficult – Jews could be walking in bitter cold or sweltering heat. On an August day in Ostroh in 1941, Jews sat on the ground for hours, waiting to be shot: “children were crying, they were hungry, thirsty. The older women were so exhausted that they lay down on the floor. People were asking if there was any water, was there any water – they were thirsty. In the end, after what felt like eternity, an order was given for women and children under 14 to go to the left.”[footnoteRef:25]	Comment by Author: I have added more information to this sentence to make it sound more idiomatic in English [23:  E.g. in Horynhrad, Jews were taken to the Khatyn forest, 10 km away from the village. See JHIA, 301/663 – Aron Winicer’s account.]  [24:  See https://www.nizkor.org/session-030-04-eichmann-adolf/]  [25:  USC, VHA 38038 – Rochelle Gelman’s (Rachel Smola) account.] 

Bystanders weren’t supposed to be allowed near the sites of massacres; however onlookers did manage to get close to the executions: “the local peasants stood in the hills and watched.”[footnoteRef:26] Germans were waiting at the execution site; they were [standing] “around the clearing (…) and were laughing, howling.”[footnoteRef:27] Survivors’ accounts often state that the perpetrators “were all drunk, they got them drunk, they did it drunk.”[footnoteRef:28] Before the operation in Buchach, “the Gestapo officers enjoyed a drunken binge in the Judenrat and were always completely drunk.”[footnoteRef:29] Near the execution site in Slonim there was “one big table with vodka on, with food provided for those bandits by the Judenrat,”[footnoteRef:30] while near the dug-out pits in Korets “an orchestra was playing, and drunk Germans and Ukrainians were dancing to the music.”[footnoteRef:31] The perpetrators did not just include Germans; “many Lithuanians and Belorussian policemen from the local Christian population helped them do the job.”[footnoteRef:32] The Lithuanian, Belorussian, and Ukrainian police took part in murdering Jews, as well as local civilians – “Polish and Ukrainian peasants”[footnoteRef:33] and Volksdeutsche.[footnoteRef:34]	Comment by Author: I could not find information on somewhere called "Kartakaj” so I directly transliterated this into English as "Kartakay”. [26:  JHIA, 301/826 – Lejb Gold’s account. The attendance of onlookers is also evidenced in photos of mass executions, which are not being analyzed here. ]  [27:  JHIA, 301/3491 – Maria Kenigsberg’s account.]  [28:  USC, VHA 1757 – Jacob Raykin’s (Jasz Rajkin) account.]  [29:  JHIA, 301/2468 – Munio Lagsztajn’s account.]  [30:  JHIA, 302/155 – Salomon Szlakman, “Żądam sprawiedliwości (tragedia słonimska) [“I demand justice (the tragedy at Slonim)”].]  [31:  Szmul Widro, How I escaped from the pit of death, in Księga Pamięci Korca [The Korets Memorial Book], trans. from Hebrew L. i S. Sawiccy, https://www.jewishgen.org/Yizkor/Korets/Korets.html]  [32:  JHIA, 301/1972 – David Kahane’s account]  [33:  USC, VHA 25381 – Edith Cimmer’s (Ida Kukes) account.]  [34:  YiU testimony N° 1571U – Grigorij Bagno, Sofievka, Odessa region. Bagno witnessed the massacre – he notes that “there was a German colony near Sofievka, but the Germans living there did not agree to take part in the execution. The inhabitants of Kartakay agreed to take part: they each returned with twelve carts full of the shot victims’ possessions. By the evening they were already drunk.”] 

In the accounts analyzed, the executioners are largely presented as an undifferentiated group. However, a few individual perpetrators identified by name stand out, notably SS-Hauptsturmführer Hans Krüger, head of the Sicherheitspolizei and SD in Ivano-Frankivsk,[footnoteRef:35] remembered by survivors of the massacre at the cemetery there. The Germans had a buffet arranged at the site “with food and drink, elegant, the best liqueurs.”[footnoteRef:36] In a break between the murdering, “when the first grave was full (…) Krüger and Brandt[footnoteRef:37] ate breakfast. There were served sandwiches with ham and sausage as well as vodka.”[footnoteRef:38]	Comment by Author: "SS-Untersturmführer” was shaded in the source. I’m not sure if this was an accident, but I have removed this shading in the target [35:  See Dieter Pohl, Hans Krueger and the Murder of the Jews in the Stanislawow Region (Galicia), https://www.yadvashem.org/odot_pdf/Microsoft%20Word%20-%202292.pdf]  [36:  JHIA, 301/4631 – Rita Felczer’s account. ]  [37:  Oskar Brandt, SS-Untersturmführer, Krüger’s deputy in Ivano-Frankivsk, previously a Judenreferent in the Sicherheitspolizei (Sipo) in Cracow.]  [38:  JHIA, 301/1734 – Fryderyk Nadler’s account.] 

Before they died, the victims were also humiliated, beaten, and robbed. The words of an intimidating German standing over the graves in Slonim rang absurd and macabre: “anyone with money, jewels, gold, watches or valuables should hand them over, because if we find them on anyone later then they will be sentenced to death.”[footnoteRef:39] In Poniatowa an SS man shouted at the women undressing: “Geld, Gold, Schmuck, Uhren abgeben, wer nicht abgibt, wird erschossen! [Surrender your money, gold, jewelry, watches; whoever does not surrender will be shot!]”[footnoteRef:40]	Comment by Author: I believe this quotation mark is missing in the source; there are other places in the source where there are missing quotation marks.	Comment by Author: You can consider adding the English in the text and removing it from the footnote – it will be easier for the reader. [39:  Salomon Szlakman, “Żądam sprawiedliwości…,” op. cit. ]  [40:  Ludwika Fiszerowa’s account in Archiwum Instytutu Polskiego i Muzeum im. Generała Władysława Sikorskiego w Londynie [Polish Institute and Sikorski Museum in London’s Archive], IPMS, A.9.III.2a – MSW Dział Społeczny, 27, as cited in Andrzej Żbikowski, Teksty pogrzebane w niepamięci. Relacje dwóch uciekinierek z masowego grobu Poniatowa [Texts buried in amnesia. The accounts of two escapes from the Poniatowa mass grave], “Zagłada Żydów. Studia i Materiały” 2005, 1, pp. 73–95. Ludwika Fiszerowa‘s account is probably the earliest provided by a person who escaped a mass grave. It was given in Warsaw in late 1943 and early 1944 and was sent to the Polish Government exiled in London in spring 1944 as an attachment to a Żegota report. The same account (under her married name of Ludka Chanesman) is attached to Estera Winderbaum’s account (YVA, O3.2314).] 

The Jews were ordered to completely undress, thus stripping the victims of their dignity, rendering them completely vulnerable and further dehumanizing them. Their clothes were saved, as they could still be useful – they were not to be torn by bullets and stained with blood. “Belongings were sorted at the site, with the better items placed onto carts and the worse ones burnt.”[footnoteRef:41] “For the Germans, 300 Jews represented 300 enemies of the people; for the Lithuanians, they represented 300 pairs of shoes. (…) The Germans took the valuables, leaving the clothes to the Lithuanians,”[footnoteRef:42] noted Kazimierz Sakowicz, who lived near an execution site. Any Jews who were used to sort out the clothes were usually killed at the end.[footnoteRef:43]	Comment by Author: There was no opening quotation mark for this quote in the source so I have placed it at the beginning of this sentence. [41:  Grigorij Bagno, op. cit. ]  [42:  Kazimierz Sakowicz, Dziennik 1941–1943 [Journal 1941–1943], IPN, Warszawa 2014, s. 34.]  [43:  E.g. in Tłuste, see JHIA, 301/3337 – Hilary Konigsberg’s account.] 

Regarding the actual method of murder, Jews were most often shot with machine guns, although sometimes grenades were thrown into graves full of people, for example in Zolochiv,[footnoteRef:44] Nesvizh,[footnoteRef:45] and Crvenka.[footnoteRef:46] Differences are found in the number of people taken under threat to the execution sites and in whether Jews were shot when they were already lying in a grave, or when they were standing at the edge of it, or on a board from which they fell directly into the pit. Jews in Novogrudok lay down in a dug-out grave,[footnoteRef:47] in Korets, Germans ordered the victims to “climb into the ditch and lie face down,”[footnoteRef:48] and in Kaunas, Jews were also told to climb into the graves.[footnoteRef:49] At the graves in Nesvizh, the Germans “made a sort of step (…) [on which] they had to climb down and then lie down flat, like herrings, sardines.”[footnoteRef:50] One of the Polish gravediggers helping to fill in the graves during the mass execution in Szczebrzeszyn clearly remembers “the harrowing detail of one young Jewish girl, already lying on the ground, asking one of the Polish gravediggers: ‘Excuse me, am I lying correctly?’”[footnoteRef:51]	Comment by Author: Does this correctly reflect your meaning?  [44:  USC, VHA 601 – Fela Leader’s (Fela Zwilling) account.]  [45:  Michael Kutz’s (Michał Kuc) account, op. cit.]  [46:  Zalman Teichman’s account, op. cit.]  [47:  JHIA, 301/1905 – Sara Jakubowicz and Dr. M. Jakubowicz’s account.]  [48:  Szmul Widro, op.cit.,]  [49:  Icyk Bloch’s account, in Czarna Księga, op. cit., p. 523. ]  [50:  Michael Kutz’s (Michał Kuc) account, op. cit. ]  [51:  Zygmunt Klukowski, Niedola i zagłada Żydów w Szczebrzeszynie [The Misery and Holocaust of Jews in Szczebrzeszyn] (Fragments from a diary) [Tadeusz Jaszczyk’s account], “Biuletyn ŻIH” 1956, no. 3/4 (19/20), p. 239–240. Cited in Alina Skibińska, Powiat biłgorajski [Biłgoraj County], in Dalej jest noc. Losy Żydów w wybranych powiatach okupowanej Polski [It’s still night. The fate of Jews in chosen counties of occupied Poland], Warszawa 2018, p. 282.] 

If the Jews stood (or knelt[footnoteRef:52]) at the graveside, “the Germans shot them in the back of the head, so that the victims fell straight into the trench.”[footnoteRef:53] This happened in Tłuste,[footnoteRef:54] Slonim,[footnoteRef:55] and Sofievka,[footnoteRef:56] among other places. Victims stood on a board over the grave and were shot in Korolivka,[footnoteRef:57] Radekhiv,[footnoteRef:58] Kamianka-Buzka,[footnoteRef:59] Rohatyn,[footnoteRef:60] Borshchiv,[footnoteRef:61] and Horodenka, where, “opposite, there was a little table with a machine gun. Next to the machine gun were bottles of vodka, and when we were lined up, the Gestapo officers began to shoot.”[footnoteRef:62]	Comment by Author: The footnote here says, “op. cit.”, however Leon Blech’s account has not been referenced before this point – the client may want to add the archive details to this footnote. This happens elsewhere in the text too. 	Comment by Author: I would suggest putting "op. cit.” Instead of the full reference here as Wexler’s account has already been referenced – this happens elsewhere in the text too. [52:  Such as in Kruszyna, see USC, VHA, 2192 – Jack (Icchak) Waksal’s account.]  [53:  YVA, O3/989 – Zeew Mandel’s account.]  [54:  Hilary Konigsberg’s account, op. cit.]  [55:  David Kahane’s account, op.cit.]  [56:  Grigorij Bagno’s account, op. cit.]  [57:  USC, VHA 15576 – Solomon Wexler’s (Weichselblatt) account.]  [58:  JHIA, 301/5592 – Izydor Zwerling’s account.]  [59:  JHIA, 301/2986 – Szyja Rajzer’s account.]  [60:  Leon Blech’s account, op. cit.]  [61:  USC, VHA 15576 – Solomon Wexler’s (Weichselblatt) account.]  [62:  Herman Steinkohl’s account, op. cit.] 

The number of victims murdered in each round of shooting also differed: in Pogost-Zagorodskii, four Germans shot Jews in four rows one by one,[footnoteRef:63] while five were murdered at a time in Radekhiv,[footnoteRef:64] Kamianka-Buzka,[footnoteRef:65] and in Przemyśl.[footnoteRef:66] Six were murdered at a time in Korets,[footnoteRef:67] Skalat,[footnoteRef:68] Rohatyn,[footnoteRef:69] and Ponary.[footnoteRef:70] Twenty Jews were murdered at a time in September 1941 in Eišiškės,[footnoteRef:71] in October 1941 in Ivano-Frankivsk,[footnoteRef:72] in December 1941 in Horodenka,[footnoteRef:73] in August 1942 in Berezne,[footnoteRef:74] and in October 1944 in Crvenka.[footnoteRef:75] [63:  Rivka Yoselewska’s testimony – https://www.nizkor.org/session-030-04-eichmann-adolf/]  [64:  Izydor Zwerling’s account, op. cit.]  [65:  Szyja Rajzer’s account, op. cit.]  [66:  JHIA, 301/1938 – Marian Bien’s account.]  [67:  Szmul Widro’s account, op. cit.]  [68:  Hilary Konigsberg’s account, op. cit.]  [69:  Leon Blech’s account, op. cit.]  [70:  JHIA, 301/2001 – Izaak Kagan’s account, shortened version published with the title Ocalenie [Salvation], in Karta, no. 89/2016, pp. 14–15.]  [71:  Zvi Michaeli’s (Izaak Michałowski) account, op. cit.]  [72:  Leopold Blech’s account, op. cit.]  [73:  Herman Steinkohl’s account, op. cit.]  [74:  Edith Cimmer’s (Ida Kukes) account, op. cit.]  [75:  “Twenty prisoners were taken to each side of the pit. Those on the right side were brought before the murderers from the right side and those on the left were brought before the murderers from the left side.” Zalman Teichman’s account, op. cit.] 

The murders were characterized by haste[footnoteRef:76] and brutality. One thing that seems to have especially stuck in survivors’ memories is the unusual cruelty that the perpetrators showed toward children; many of the accounts repeat that children were killed in front of their mothers, even though the mothers “begged those feral murderers to kill them first so that they wouldn’t have to see their children be murdered.”[footnoteRef:77] “Children were lifted up by bayonets and thrown into the pits.”[footnoteRef:78] “Small children (…) were taken away from their parents; their spines were snapped over the murderers’ knees. They threw toddlers into the air and shot at them or caught them on bayonets and then threw them into the trenches.”[footnoteRef:79] [76:  “There was not a lot of time to think, everything from that moment happened so quickly that there wasn’t even a spare minute in which to think.” Izaak Kagan’s account, op. cit.]  [77:  Mina Necha Gurwicz’s account, op. cit.]  [78:  Icyk Bloch’s account, op. cit.]  [79:  Getto mińskie [Minsk Ghetto], in Czarna Księga, op. cit., p. 229.] 

*
A decidedly key element of the experience of those stood above their graves was a universal component of the human condition – death anxiety.[footnoteRef:80] This most common and strongest of human anxieties is shared by all. It is an inextricable part of being human; although at different stages of life we are more or less aware of it, it perpetually accompanies us. Evidence of fear in the face of death can be found in many of the accounts analyzed. These do not represent elaborate reflections, but, rather, descriptions of behaviors and actions that reflect various manifestations of this anxiety. Jews heading towards death in Babi Yar were incredulous: “I felt a range of things – I was scared that something terrible might happen. But it was also impossible to imagine that they could butcher this many people.”[footnoteRef:81] Those gathered by the graves in Ponary also did not know what was waiting for them at first; it was only “at 12 o’clock, when everyone finally understood that they could not avoid death, that they would not be saved, then it became really terrible. When it was their turn, people stood up voluntarily and, silently, in quiet desperation, with no shouting or protesting, went to the slaughter.”[footnoteRef:82]	Comment by Author: I think “Tema” should be “Tima” here, I have changed it in the translation. [80:  The field of psychology differentiates anxiety, which relates to unspecified dangers, from fear, which humans feel in the face of a definite risk. In the case described here, universal abstract death anxiety meets the very definite fear experienced when approaching the actual end of one’s life.]  [81:  USHMM, RG-50.120.0008 – Oral history interview with Genya Batasheva.]  [82:  Tima Kac, Przeżycie [Survival], “Karta” 2016, no. 89, pp. 8–10. ] 

Possible reactions to the terrifying awareness of certain death include crying, screaming, wailing and becoming hysterical. Jews cried in Babi Yar,[footnoteRef:83] Poniatowa,[footnoteRef:84] Sarny,[footnoteRef:85] and in Slonim, where “many women sobbed, fainted from fear; they were shot. The scenes that took place by the pits are impossible to describe. People ran around as if they were insane, they tore out their hair, many lost their minds.”[footnoteRef:86] In Ponary, “everyone wept and despaired to begin with, but they gradually calmed down. (…) My sister was lying next to me. Her two-year-old son Mojszel was crying on her chest. When the shots subsided somewhat, I suddenly noticed that my sister was humming something. She was humming a well-known folk song, lulling her son to sleep.”[footnoteRef:87] [83:  Oral history interview with Genya Batasheva, op. cit.]  [84:  “My husband completely broke. He cried like a young child. He couldn’t calm down at all. (…) women said goodbye to their husbands, crying quietly.” Ludwika Fiszerowa’s account, op. cit. ]  [85:  “I was shouting and crying, and they were all asking me why I was crying. We’re all going to the same place after all. I told them that I was still a young, pretty woman; this wasn’t supposed to be my end, my death.” USC, VHA 24400 – Miriam Rothstein’s (Mania Błotnik) account.]  [86:  David Kahane’s account, op. cit.]  [87:  Chena Kac’s account, in Czarna Księga op. cit., p. 422.] 

Some wanted to die as quickly as possible, for example, Izaak Kagan: “I saw death before me. Its sharp claws caught me by the throat… We understood that this was our final journey, but we could not save ourselves. We could not even reflect on our destiny, as we were already half-dead… We saw the dug-out pits… We wanted to get into them as quickly as possible. Yes, yes, I’m not joking; when death is staring you in the face you long for a quick end, because thinking about death is much harder than actually dying.”[footnoteRef:88] Others also wanted it to end as quickly as possible: Ludwika Fiszerowa in Poniatowa,[footnoteRef:89] Fruma Jakubowicz in Trawno,[footnoteRef:90] and Fridrich Drabik, who in April 1943 was headed to his death alongside other Jews in Terebovlia. Drabik’s cousin took him “by the hand, he wanted to be in the first pair to go so that it would all be over for us more quickly.”[footnoteRef:91] Others tried to delay their death as much as possible, such as Estera Winderbaum[footnoteRef:92] and Ita Straż, who kept moving towards “the back. So that I could buy more time.”[footnoteRef:93] Jews in Eišiškės also tried to delay their death; “everyone wanted to be in the next group, to live half an hour longer, just one more half hour.”[footnoteRef:94]	Comment by Author: I’m not sure if "Trawno” is the correct name of this place as I couldn’t find much information about executions in Trawno.  [88:  Izaak Kagan’s account, op. cit.]  [89:  “I intended to go out in one of the first groups of fifty.” Ludwika Fiszerowa’s account, op. cit.]  [90:  USC, VHA 31253 – Fruma Jakubowicz’s (Dembling) account.]  [91:  YVA, O3/1273 – Fridrich Drabik’s account. ]  [92:  Estera Rubinsztajn’s (Winderbaum) account, op. cit. ]  [93:  YVA, O3/1354 – Ita Straż’s account. ]  [94:  Zvi Michaeli’s (Izaak Michałowski) account, op. cit.] 

Max Solway describes the various reactions of Jews heading towards death in Šķēde in Lithuania: “We saw that they were killing us – some cried, some fell into hysteria, some soiled themselves (…) [I] just watched, sitting there.”[footnoteRef:95] Apathy could result from resignation, exhaustion, or stoicism in the face of death, but also from fright, as happened in Lviv: “the older people went to be shot indifferently. As if their lives had already ended. Also, partly because they were being driven forward, and anyone who hesitated was beaten with a rod. So they all preferred to go quietly.”[footnoteRef:96]  [95:  USC, VHA 37541 – Max Solway’s (Mordechaj Soloveicik) account.]  [96:  Ostatni wywiad z Jonaszem Sternem [Final interview with Jonasz Stern], op.cit.] 

In traumatic situations, the human body sometimes defends itself in a way that feels as though one has become detached, outside of the body, cut off from the events occurring here and now. In psychology, this phenomenon is called disassociation, which means that when faced with an exceptionally traumatic experience, the human psyche switches on a defense mechanism to survive in an inconceivably difficult situation.[footnoteRef:97] Jacob Raykin refers to this experience of disassociation: “when you are standing by the pit and you know what is going to happen to you in the next few seconds, you stop functioning, you stop thinking clearly, your brain doesn’t work anymore, your blood stops flowing through your veins, you don’t know what’s going on. You become numb, paralyzed. I don’t know how… You don’t sweat, nothing, you are completely dead, you are already dead.”[footnoteRef:98] Izaak Kagan felt similarly standing over his grave in Ponary: “I felt calm. I wasn’t really there. It was just my thin, bony body that was standing there, waiting to get hit by a Lithuanian bullet and end its sad ghetto existence.”[footnoteRef:99]	Comment by Author: Here the shift to I makes more sense. [97:  Of course, later in life this can occur unbidden in various situations that reawaken the trauma suffered, and in extreme cases, it can cause serious dysfunction. This is described by the general term PTSD: a causal link between trauma, symptoms arising from it, and dissociative episodes, which are attempts to ease or cure the trauma.]  [98:  Jacob Raykin’s (Jasz Rajkin) account, op. cit.]  [99:  Izaak Kagan’s account, op. cit. ] 

Death anxiety also involves the awareness of the interruption of existence, the loss of one’s own individuality, failure – every death, even mass death, is a deeply individual experience. The sudden interruption of life and awareness of the termination of one’s own being also appears as a feeling of loss in the testimonies analyzed. “This was the end!” thought Ita Straż in Ponary, “And what had I seen in life? (…) I was 19 then.”[footnoteRef:100] In the Biķernieki forest in Lithuania, Frida Frid thought: “Can this really be the end? Just a few minutes and I’ll be dead? I won’t see the sun ever again; I won’t breathe fresh air. How is this possible? (…) I don’t want to die! I don’t want to!”[footnoteRef:101] 	Comment by Author: There is a double diacritic in the source text here. There are issues with diacritics in several other places throughout the source text – none affect meaning. [100:  Ita Straż’s account, op. cit.]  [101:  Frida Frid’s account, in Czarna Księga, op. cit. p. 581.] 

Fear before death can also be reflected in other instinctual behaviors, of which the most obvious is escape. Thirty-three individuals in the accounts analyzed ran away from the graveside, including Joel Rubinsztajn. During the final liquidation of the ghetto in Ostroh, he “heard the shouts of his wife, her mother and children, who fell into the hole”: “it was as if a frenzy took hold of me. I didn’t know what I was doing, I turned around [and] started to run. They shot after me but I wasn’t hit.”[footnoteRef:102] [102:  YVA, O3/2047 – Joel Rubinsztajn’s account.] 

Death anxiety was also reflected in pleas for mercy, such as in Ponary, where “women started to beg the Lithuanians, trying to bribe them with watches and clothes. Some fell to the ground, kissing the soldiers’ shoes, tearing their hair out – it didn’t help.”[footnoteRef:103] At the graveside in Pogost-Zagorodskii, Rivka Yoselewska’s sister “begged the German to let her live.”[footnoteRef:104] In contrast, others scorned their murderers in the face of death. At the graveside in Brajiliw, Germans offered Judenrat chairman Josif Kulik salvation. He reportedly retorted: “The people chose me to be the chairman of this community and I will go where they go.”[footnoteRef:105] Dr. Tennenbaum, a member of the Jewish Council in Ivano-Frankivsk and an escapee from Austria, was already standing at the grave on the day of the massacre at the cemetery. Krüger paused the shooting and attempted to release him. “Tennenbaum stood and didn’t move from where he was. With a smile on his lips, Krüger asked: ‘Oh, Herr Doktor! Sie wollen nicht zuruckgehen? [Oh, Doctor, don’t you want to go back?]’ In response, Tennenbaum took off his gloves, threw them at Krüger’s face and cried loudly: ‘Du unverschaemter Moerder, wenn meine Brueder und Schwestern gehen, gehe ich auch [You shameless murderer, when my brothers and sisters go, I go too]’ and threw himself into the grave.”[footnoteRef:106]	Comment by Author: The source here is more similar to "I will remain wherever there is a majority of them”. My suggestion of "I will go wherever they go” is more idiomatic and conveys the same meaning, in my opinion.	Comment by Author: Again, it’s preferable to have the English translation accessible in the text in brackets. This German quote doesn’t appear to have been translated in the footnote. [103:  Tima Kac’s account, in Życie i zagłada Żydów polskich 1939–1945. Relacje świadków [The Life and Holocaust of Polish Jews, 1939–1945. Eyewitness Accounts], compiled by M. Grynberg, M. Kotowska, Oficyna Naukowa, Warszawa 2003, p. 542. A shortened version of the account, titled Przeżycie [Survival], was published in “Karta” 2016, no. 89.]  [104:  Rivka Yoselewska’s testimony, op. cit. ]  [105:  Jefim Gechman, Brahiłów [Brajiliw], in Czarna Księga, op. cit., p. 107.]  [106:  Fryderyk Nadler’s account, op. cit. Rita Felczer describes the scene similarly: “Dr. Tennenbaum from Ivano-Frankivsk was standing next to me. They told him that they were going to let him live. But he was wearing gloves, he threw them from his hands into the grave that I had jumped into. I saw them fall in and heard his voice as he shouted: ‘I don’t want to live by your hand. I’m sick of your savagery, you killed my brothers and sisters, kill me too.’ Then they shot him on the spot.” Rita Felczer’s account, op. cit.] 

From the accounts analyzed, it can be seen that both religion and relationships with loved ones could reduce fear in the face of death. From the crowds waiting for death in Ivano-Frankivsk, “various prayers of vidui, cries and moans could be heard,”[footnoteRef:107] while in many other places, Jews also died with prayers on their lips.[footnoteRef:108] One such person was Jehoshua Goldman, who was lying in a grave “reciting the Shema Yisrael, although he did not manage to finish his prayer before bullets hit him in the chest.”[footnoteRef:109] Others awaited divine intervention in vain, such as Ida Kukes who, surrounded by a pandemonium of screams and shots at the mass grave in Berezne, thought: “Where are you, God? Can’t You send some kind of miracle? Please send a hurricane or tornado to kill them.”[footnoteRef:110]	Comment by Author: This probably calls for a separate  footnote explaining the prayer.	Comment by Author: This also calls for a footnote explaining that this is a Jewish prayer meaning”Hear O Israel,” that is the center of the morning and evening prayers. [107:  Leon Blech’s account, op. cit. Vidui (Hebr. confession) – confession of sins before God, which along with repentance and reparation could remit a punishment for the confessor. In Judaism, vidui are recommended when faced with the threat of death, among other things. ]  [108:  This is discussed in accounts including that by David Kahane, op. cit. and Estera Rubinsztajn (Winderbaum), op. cit., who recalls “I covered my face with my hands and with a cry of ‘Shema Yisrael’ I fell down.”]  [109:  Szmul Widro, op. cit.]  [110:  Edith Cimmer’s (Ida Kukes) account, op. cit.] 

Being close to another person also helped alleviate death anxiety. According to psychologists, successful relationships with people are one of the most effective ways to reduce existential anxiety.[footnoteRef:111] In the context discussed here, this refers not only to an emotional connection, but also to physical proximity to others. In Sarny, Mania Błotnik’s family “walked completely resigned, without hope, crying and hugging each other the whole way.”[footnoteRef:112] “Men and women, parents and children hugged each other before death and were shot and fell into the graves like that.”[footnoteRef:113] Josif Wajngertner was already standing in his grave and saying goodbye to his wife: “At that moment, as we were hugging, a bullet hit my wife in the head and her blood splashed onto my face. I picked her up and looked for somewhere to lay her down. But then I was hit in the leg, others fell on top of me.”[footnoteRef:114] [111:  Feeling as though one’s life is complete is another – the conviction that one is leaving something behind (not necessarily in a material sense). See Yalom Irvin D., Patrząc w słońce. Jak przezwyciężyć grozę śmierci [Looking into the sun. How to overcome the horror of death], trans. Anna Dodziuk, Warszawa 2008.]  [112:  Miriam Rothstein’s (Mania Błotnik) account, op. cit.]  [113:  David Kahane’s account, op. cit.]  [114:  Josif Wajngertner’s account, in Czarna Księga, op. cit., p. 391.] 

Physical proximity to another person can help reduce fear. Genya Batasheva, who became separated from her family in the crowd of people walking to Babi Yar, recalls: “I was alone. I didn’t have my mum, my brother or Liza. (…) I was completely alone. I was so terrified that I was going to die alone, without them. (…) I had to find them, so that we could die together. Only with them, together. (…) I ran around the whole square. (…) I had to die with them.”[footnoteRef:115] [115:  Oral history interview with Genya Batasheva, op. cit.] 

Particular attention has been paid here to the confrontation with death and the circumstances of the massacres because the analyzed testimonies contain the most information about these topics. Beyond this, I posit that death anxiety, representing a universal human emotion, can provide insights into the experience of Holocaust victims. It helps us to imagine this situation and the feelings of those standing at gravesides, and to reject the illusion that these experiences were beyond comprehension, as if they took place in a world completely different to our own. 

3. In the grave 

The method of murder (as well as alcohol, arguably) meant that the Germans “killed some, only wounded others, and didn’t even scratch others who remained completely alive, but everyone was forced into the dug-out graves.”[footnoteRef:116] “Many of those who were only wounded suffocated, buried alive,” noted Salomon Grünsberg.[footnoteRef:117] Herman Steinkohl, who survived the massacre in Horodenka, estimated that “thirty per cent were still alive and unscathed by bullets, but were slightly injured.”[footnoteRef:118] This is possibly an overestimation; nevertheless, of those who fell into the graves, more remained alive than one might think. The protagonists of this text were among those who were wounded, both lightly and heavily, and the completely unscathed.	Comment by Author: This part seems to negate “but were slightly injured”. I believe I have understood and represented the meaning of the quote correctly, however perhaps “nie trafionych kulą” actually means “not shot dead” rather than were “unscathed by bullets”? If so, then I suggest “30 per cent were still alive and hadn’t been shot dead, but were slightly injured” [116:  Aron Winicer’s account, op. cit.,]  [117:  Salomon Grünsberg’s memoir, op. cit.]  [118:  Herman Steinkohl’s account, op. cit.] 

Some fell into the graves a fraction of a second before the shot, such as Chaim Wittelson in Zolochiv, [footnoteRef:119] Jonasz Stern in Lviv,[footnoteRef:120] Henia Milner on the Baltic coast,[footnoteRef:121] Motel Gdud in Ponary,[footnoteRef:122] and Ita Straż, who conceded in her account: “They must have shot. But I didn’t hear the shot. I probably fell into the trench immediately out of fright.”[footnoteRef:123] “I must have fainted and fallen in first,” said Morris Faintuch.[footnoteRef:124] [119:  JHIA, 301/531 – Chaim Wittelson’s account.]  [120:  JHIA 301/4689 – Jonasz Stern’s account.]  [121:  USC, VHA 44173 – Henia Ptasznik’s (Henia Milner) account.]  [122:  Motel Gdud’s account, Czarna Księga, op. cit., p. 419.]  [123:  YVA, O3/1354 – Ita Straż’s account. ]  [124:  Morris Faintuch’s (Mojżesz Fajntuch) account.] 

Others found themselves pulled into the grave by the person next to them falling, such as Anna Lempert,[footnoteRef:125] Jasz Rajkin,[footnoteRef:126] and Jadwiga Mornel, who was holding the hand of a woman standing next to her during the liquidation of the camp at Treblinka I: “as a result of the shot that had just been fired, [she] fell into the pit, pulling me with her, while the bullet intended for me flew just past my head.”[footnoteRef:127] In Babi Yar, Jelena Jefimowna Borodianska-Knysz deliberately jumped into the grave just before the shot in order to save her daughter. “The German order for us to line up in a row rang out. I didn’t wait for the next command, I immediately threw the girl into the trench and fell on her myself. A second later bodies started falling on top of me.”[footnoteRef:128]	Comment by Author: This person was referred to above with their other name (Jacob Raykin), but is referred to as Jasz Rajkin for the rest of the text. The client may want to use the same name throughout the text. There is inconsistency with survivors’ names elsewhere in the text too. [125:  JHIA, 301/145 – Anna Lempert’s account.]  [126:  Jacob Raykin’s (Jasz Rajkin) account, op. cit.]  [127:  YVA, O3/555 – Jadwiga Mornel’s account (married name Figowa).]  [128:  Jelena Jefimowna Borodianska-Knysz’s account, Czarna Księga op. cit. pp. 65–66.] 

[bookmark: _Hlk87640734]Those who fell into graves untouched by bullets included Salomon Szlakman in Slonim,[footnoteRef:129] Mojżesz Fajntuch during the liquidation of the Wolanów work camp,[footnoteRef:130] Chaim Wittelson in Zolochiv,[footnoteRef:131] Jehudit Trojak[footnoteRef:132] and Tima Kac in Ponary,[footnoteRef:133] and Estera Rubinsztejn in Poniatowa.[footnoteRef:134] In Poniatowa and Ponary, Ludwika Fiszerowa[footnoteRef:135] and Ita Straż’s[footnoteRef:136] hands were lightly wounded, in Eišiškės Izaak Michałowski[footnoteRef:137] was wounded in the neck, while in Pogost-Zagorodskii, Rivka Yoselewska[footnoteRef:138] was wounded in the head. In Korets, Szmul Widro got “one bullet to the right side of the torso and another to the left. Luckily, her wounds were light because the bullets did not go too deep.”[footnoteRef:139] Meanwhile, Slava Fintel was seriously wounded during the liquidation of the ghetto in Pastavy – one bullet hit her in the leg and another hit her in the head.[footnoteRef:140] In the Rzeszów ghetto, Pinchas Burstein was shot by drunken Gestapo officers. He got hit in the nape of his neck, with the bullet entering “from the back of my neck (…) and exiting through my cheek, under my eye.”[footnoteRef:141] During the liquidation of the Chełmno camp, Szymon Srebrnik got hit by a bullet that went through the back of his head and pierced his jaw: “His mouth was full of blood and snow.”[footnoteRef:142] Zalman Teichman was also heavily wounded and recounted what happened after he was shot at the edge of a pit in Crvenka in detail: “I was thrown with such force that I thought that I was already in the afterlife. For two or three minutes, I didn’t know what had happened. Luckily, the bullet had exited my body immediately. My blood was flowing as if from a faucet. (…) The bullet hit me in the neck, two or three centimeters below my ear, and came out right next to my nose.”[footnoteRef:143]	Comment by Author: Although the reference for this quote seems to be from Srebrnik’s own account, the source uses a third person pronoun here. I have kept this in the target wherever it happens in the source. [129:  Salomon Szlakman, “Żądam sprawiedliwości…,” op. cit.]  [130:  Morris Faintuch’s (Mojżesz Fajntuch) account, op. cit.]  [131:  Chaim Wittelson’s account, op. cit.]  [132:  Jehudit Trojak’s account in Życie i zagłada Żydów polskich 1939-1945, op. cit., p. 541. ]  [133:  Tima Kac’s account, op. cit.]  [134:  Estera Rubinsztajn’s (Winderbaum) account, op. cit.]  [135:  Ludwika Fiszerowa’s account, op. cit.]  [136:  Ita Straż’s account, op. cit.]  [137:  Zvi Michaeli’s (Izaak Michałowski) account, op. cit.]  [138:  Rivka Yoselewska’s testimony, op. cit.]  [139:  Szmul Widro, op. cit.]  [140:  USC, VHA 14091 – Slava Fintel’s (Cymer) account.]  [141:  Pinchas Burstein’s (Maryan S. Maryan) notes, cited in Ewa Andrzejewska Maryan. Powrót, [Maryan. Return]. Nisza, Warszawa 2017, p. 97.]  [142:  YVA, O3/2350 – Szymon Srebrnik’s account.]  [143:  Zalman Teichman’s account, op. cit.] 

Many fainted after the shots. According to its medical definition, fainting is the “short-term loss of consciousness, feeling and ability to move as a consequence of insufficient oxygenation of the brain.”[footnoteRef:144] Fainting can be caused by endogenous or exogenous factors, which include situations like fear, pain and, in some cases, the sight of blood. All of these were possible reasons for people fainting into the graves, the majority of whom lost consciousness for a short period of time. [144:  https://www.medonet.pl] 

After they regained consciousness, Jews found themselves lying under, on, and next to corpses and the heavily and lightly wounded at different stages of agony and death. Sometimes it was cold: “I was still semi-conscious. I crawled to a corpse and covered myself with it, to protect myself from the terrible cold,”[footnoteRef:145] recalls Estera Winderbaum, who survived the liquidation of the camp in Poniatowa in November 1943. The cold of the night awoke Mojżesz Fajntuch,[footnoteRef:146] while Dina Herzberg was revived by the cold water of the Baltic.[footnoteRef:147] Fruma Jakubowicz awoke to rain,[footnoteRef:148] and Motel Gdud “was revived by a draft of wind,”[footnoteRef:149] while Salomon Szlakman was awoken by the singing of Lithuanians, who were sitting by a fire near the mass grave in Slonim drinking vodka.[footnoteRef:150] [145:  Estera Rubinsztajn’s (Winderbaum) account, op. cit.]  [146:  USC, VHA 17103 – Morris Faintuch’s (Mojżesz Fajntuch) account.]  [147:  YVA, O3/2279 – Dina Herzberg’s account. ]  [148:  Fruma Jakubowicz’s (Dembling) account, op. cit.]  [149:  Motel Gdud’s account, op. cit.]  [150:  Salomon Szlakman, “Żądam sprawiedliwości…,” op. cit.] 

Regaining consciousness was accompanied by a feeling of disorientation – Salomon Guttman thought he was “sleeping uncomfortably in bed.”[footnoteRef:151] When Jankiel Moskovitz woke up completely covered in blood after an execution during a death march from Auschwitz, “he did not know if he was dead or alive,”[footnoteRef:152] while Izaak Michałowski thought:  “I’m neither dead nor alive.”[footnoteRef:153] Similarly, Rivka Yoselewska thought that she “was dead, but that I could feel something even though I was dead,”[footnoteRef:154] while Jasz Rajkin imagined that “this is what it feels like to be a corpse.”[footnoteRef:155] “My first impression after waking up was peculiar,” recalls Josif Wajngertner, “I didn’t understand where I was and what had happened. I was being suffocated by a heavy weight. I wanted to wipe my face but I didn’t know where my hand was. Suddenly I opened my eyes and saw stars shining far above me.”[footnoteRef:156] This period of feeling in limbo probably resulted from a moment of reflection facilitated by a lack of awareness; the authors of the accounts analyzed did not devote particular attention to this. Having regained consciousness, they had to think about how they were going to survive. 	Comment by Author: Jacka is the genitive of Jacek, which I have used for the name in this reference, however it could possibly be Jack. 	Comment by Author: This is not entirely clear, although it is an accurate translation – how did a lack of awareness lead to a moment of reflection? [151:  YVA, O3/1334 – Salomon Guttman’s account.]  [152:  USC, VHA 4351 – Jacek (Jankiel) Moskovitz’s account.]  [153:  Zvi Michaeli’s (Izaak Michałowski) account, op. cit.]  [154:  Rivka Yoselewska’s testimony, op. cit.]  [155:  Jacob Raykin’s (Jasz Rajkin) account, op. cit.]  [156:  Josif Wajngertner’s account, op. cit. ] 

Regaining consciousness and understanding the situation one was facing were crucial when “the Germans, who were leaving, shot at us just to make sure that anyone who was wounded couldn’t run away in the night, (…) They were worried that there were still people who were alive – they were not mistaken, there were many. They were buried alive, no one could help them, although they cried out and prayed for help. Somewhere under the corpses, children were crying.”[footnoteRef:157] Lying among the dead in Crvenka, Zalman Teichman heard “one SS man say to another, who was shooting: ‘Careful, people are falling in before they have been hit.’ (…) Then one of the SS men said, ‘Throw a hand grenade into the dead, we want to be sure.’ They did that, blowing bodies to smithereens.” Teichman, who already had a head injury, got hit in the foot by a fragment of the grenade, painfully wounding him: “I felt indescribable pain and I couldn’t stop myself from shouting aloud. I barely felt my head injury, but my foot wound hurt terribly!”[footnoteRef:158] [157:  Sara Glejch’s notes, in Czarna Księga, op. cit., p. 138.]  [158:  Zalman Teichman’s account, op. cit.] 

Although Germans sometimes got very close when checking who was alive, subsequently killing those who were only wounded, they overlooked Netka Reischer,[footnoteRef:159] Fania Simkin,[footnoteRef:160] Ludwika Fiszerowa, covered in her daughter’s blood,[footnoteRef:161] and Zalman Teichman, who saw “a few SS men shining their lanterns into the pit, to check if anyone was still alive. If they found someone who was still alive (…) they immediately shot them. They didn’t notice me, and if they had, then they probably saw a wound so terrible that they couldn’t imagine that I would still be alive.”[footnoteRef:162] One German even lifted Estera Rubinsztejn‘s head up, but “because my head was covered in the blood of other corpses, he thought that I was dead and moved on.”[footnoteRef:163] [159:  USC, VHA 1783 – Netti Kimmerling’s (Netka Reischer) account. ]  [160:  Fania Simkin’s account, in Czarna Księga, op. cit. p. 367.]  [161:  Ludwika Fiszerowa’s account, op. cit.]  [162:  Zalman Teichman’s account, op. cit.]  [163:  Estera Rubinsztajn’s (Winderbaum) account, op. cit.] 

Pretending to be a corpse was required for survival in a mass grave. Jadwiga Figowa  “was lying in masses of blood and brains,”[footnoteRef:164] while David Kropveld hid under corpses when Germans with dogs searched for survivors of an execution during a death march.[footnoteRef:165] Ita Straż consciously pretended to be a corpse: “I was lying on corpses, lying still, like a corpse. My arms and legs were flung out, my eyes were closed. The only thing I felt was someone falling on me, and then I could feel something warm flowing onto me that smelt like blood.”[footnoteRef:166] [164:  Jadwiga Mornel’s account, op. cit.]  [165:  USC, VHA 54764 – David Kropveld’s account.]  [166:  Ita Straż’s account, op. cit.] 

During an execution carried out on the Baltic coast, Henia Milner instructed her younger sister Rachele: “Don’t move. If you move, he’ll see that you’re alive and will shoot at us. (…) Don’t move your leg, don’t move your head, you have to be dead. If not, they’ll shoot you. So pretend that you are dead. But remember! Your head is the most important thing. Put it under a [dead] body.”[footnoteRef:167] Henia was completely right; after the last round of shots, the “’postmani’ [carrying out the executions] started to shout: ‘schnell aufstehen und laufen! [Get up quickly and run].’ Three women who weren’t yet completely dead stood up and were shot.”[footnoteRef:168]	Comment by Author: I didn’t understand what "postmani” meant and I couldn’t find anything in my research. What does "postmani” refer to here?	Comment by Author: Again, I think it preferable to make the English accessible in the text. [167:  Henia Ptasznik’s (Henia Milner) account, op. cit.]  [168:  JHIA, 301/1150 – Fryda Gabrylewicz’s account. ] 

Surviving mass graves most often requires lying among dead bodies, blood and brain tissue for at least a few hours; it entails physical contact with the bodies of murdered people. Contact with a dead body is not only a cultural taboo, it also poses a biological and physiological concern. Death is a process; the transformation of a dead person into a corpse takes some time. A live body turns into remains progressively – from functional death (the interruption of vital functions) via clinical death (complete interruption of breathing and blood flow), to brain death (brain and tissue death), which marks the beginning of the process of the body turning into a corpse. The first hour of this transformation is accompanied by a range of biological phenomena.	Comment by Author: The source here would literally translate as "relative death”, however, this doesn’t seem to be used in English. "clinical death” is the term used to describe interruption of breathing and blood flow	Comment by Author: "absolute death” (direct translation of source ("śmierć absolutna”) also doesn’t appear to be used in English – the term is brain death. However if the client doesn’t like the repetition of brain an alternative for “brain death (brain and tissue death)” could be "irreversible death (brain and tissue death)”
The bodies of the dead get colder and colder. Ludwika Fiszerowa, who had been lying in a grave since the morning, “was feverishly shaking from the cold in the evening, the bodies were already cold, in the early hours the naked bodies had still been warm.”[footnoteRef:169] Not only do bodies have a temperature and smell to consider, they are also heavy. Zvi Michaeli remembers how his father’s body fell on him: “I heard him wheezing, his blood was on me; he had probably been shot in the torso. He was lying on me and (…) after some time, I felt that my father’s body was weighing heavier and heavier on me. I felt that I was choking, I couldn’t move him. And I felt his blood all over me. (…) But I couldn’t stand his weight anymore. I tried to move out from underneath him.”[footnoteRef:170] [169:  Ludwika Fiszerowa’s account, op. cit. ]  [170:  Zvi Michaeli’s (Izaak Michałowski) account, op. cit.] 

Intrinsically linked to corpses is the feeling of disgust – one of the eight basic human emotions.[footnoteRef:171] Izaak Kagan said that lying under the bodies was difficult, it became “heavy and ‘uncomfortable’, he was slowly going crazy,”[footnoteRef:172] Ludwika Fiszerowa “was terrified by the naked, bloody bodies,” and Szmul Widro “almost drowned in a big puddle of warm blood, which was flowing in streams. The mucus of broken brains stuck to my naked body.”[footnoteRef:173] [171:  According to researcher on emotions Robert Plutchik, we have eight emotions that are basic (innate): two positive (joy and trust), two ambivalent (surprise and anticipation), and four negative (sadness, fear, disgust and anger).]  [172:  Izaak Kagan’s account, op. cit.]  [173:  Szmul Widro, op. cit.] 

Those who were still alive among the bodies realized that they had to stay quiet and try not to move. However, there was no lack of activity in the graves – they were still “full of life. People who had been shot and crushed still twitched and twisted in agony, completely covered in blood.”[footnoteRef:174] “Moans and cries could be heard in the pit, the trenches were full of blood,”[footnoteRef:175] “the cries and groans of people who were still alive” could be heard.[footnoteRef:176] “Many people were still alive, moans and sobs that wouldn’t be out of place in a synagogue could be heard. It was teeming with bodies like a hive.”[footnoteRef:177] “People were crying, howling with pain, some were choking on blood.”[footnoteRef:178] Loved ones who found themselves in graves together still took care of each other: in Kaunas, Yehuda Beilis’s dying mother asked if he had been injured.[footnoteRef:179] On the Baltic coast, Fryda Gabrylewicz and her friend Lola communicated with each other, hidden by corpses; Lola wanted to stand up when the Germans asked whether anyone was still alive, but Fryda held her down on the ice. The Germans walking among the Jews shot at the victims, just in case – Fryda was shot in the stomach and the leg, Lola was shot in the back. “She whispered: “Oh, Fryda” and died.”[footnoteRef:180] [174:  Szmul Widro, op. cit.]  [175:  Herman Steinkohl’s account, op. cit.]  [176:  Estera Rubinsztajn’s (Winderbaum) account, op. cit.]  [177:  Jonasz Stern’s account, op. cit. ]  [178:  Fela Leader’s (Alfreda Fela Zwilling) account op. cit.]  [179:  Yehuda Beilis – https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=4gmeZysU-h4]  [180:  Fryda Gabrylewicz’s account, op. cit.] 

In Babi Yar, Jelena Jefimowna Borodianska-Knysz was busy saving her daughter: “bloody, dying, and dead people began to fall into the pit. I felt that my daughter wasn’t moving any more. I clung to her and covered her with my own body. I supported my daughter’s chin with clenched fists, so that she did not suffocate. She moved. I tried to lift myself up a bit more, so that I didn’t crush her. There was lots of blood everywhere. (…) Corpses were lying on top of me and under me. I could hear that someone was walking on the corpses and swearing in German. A German soldier was using a bayonet to check if anyone had survived. It so happened that the German stood on me, which meant that I avoided being hit by the bayonet.”[footnoteRef:181] [181:  Jelena Jefimowna Borodianska-Knysz’s account.] 

In a grave in Ponary, Tima Kac unexpectedly heard “somebody crying quietly. I realized that it was a child,” she remembers. “I started to crawl in the direction of the crying. On the way, I came across the body of my husband. (…) A three-year-old girl was crying. She was alive, she wasn’t even hurt. I decided to rescue her and myself. When I stopped crawling among the bodies to rest for a moment, I cuddled her to me. I knew that if I managed to save myself it would be thanks to her.”[footnoteRef:182] Also in Ponary, 11-year-old Jehudit Trojak was lying next to her murdered mother, crying, when suddenly a woman took her by the hand and whispered to her, “to stop crying, because they could come back and finish us off. The woman also told me that when it got dark, we would run away together.”[footnoteRef:183]	Comment by Author: A more old-fashioned and literary form of "my” in Polish has been used here in the source ("mego” instead of "mojego”). I have chosen not to reflect any regional or old-fashioned features in the quotes and instead focus on conveying their meaning.  [182:  Tima Kac’s account, op. cit. The girl’s fate is unknown.]  [183:  Jehudit Trojak’s account, op. cit. p. 541. ] 

Information about what people were thinking while lying in the graves was found in only a few of the accounts. Henryk Bryskier was injured in an execution during the Warsaw ghetto uprising; when he regained consciousness after fainting, it seemed to him that “life and death do not come one after the other, but rather exist side by side in every moment. I fell into some kind of dark chasm, and then it seemed like not me, but my astral body was floating in the skies, sometimes with clouds above it and sometimes with clouds below it.” When he completely regained consciousness, he understood that he “was not flying, lounging on some clouds. Instead, I was lying on the ground, looking at the sky as if through a fog; I could see white clouds being propelled by light gusts of wind.”[footnoteRef:184] [184:  Henryk Bryskier, Żydzi pod swastyką, czyli getto w Warszawie w XX wieku [Jews under the swastika or the Warsaw ghetto in the 20th century], Warszawa 2006, pp. 255–256. ] 

Similar to others who understood that they were still alive, he had to wait until nightfall to try to escape from underneath the corpses. Time passed slowly: “The hours drew out slowly, every hour felt like an eternity.”[footnoteRef:185] Ludwika Fiszerowa said goodbye to her murdered daughter (“I touched my lips to her hair and back, her little hand slipped out of my hands”) and thought about the future: “What should I do? I didn’t know the surrounding area, I didn’t know where I was exactly, I thought that I could escape in the direction of the forest, but I was naked of course.”[footnoteRef:186] Netka Reischer was spitting – she had remembered reading that if you have blood in your spit then that means that you have a lung injury.[footnoteRef:187]  [185:  Ludwika Fiszerowa’s account, op. cit.]  [186:  Ibid.]  [187:  Netti Kimmerling’s (Netka Reischer) account, op. cit.] 

*
After the executions, the graves needed to be filled. Germans most frequently forced local inhabitants to do this. In Pyriatyn, one of the gravediggers was Piotr Czepurienko. “I heard shouts and groans from the pits,” he recalls. “The soil covering the victims was still moving. Suddenly I saw my neighbor Rudeman come out from under the soil. He was a cart driver in the factory. His eyes were covered in blood. ‘Finish me off!’ he shouted. Someone was also shouting further back. It was the carpenter Sima. He was wounded but still alive. The Germans and police officers started to kill those who had survived. A murdered woman was lying at my feet. From under her body crawled out a boy, maybe about five years old, who was desperately shouting ‘Mommy!’ I didn’t see anything else – I fell and lost consciousness.”[footnoteRef:188]	Comment by Author: From my research I think this should be "Pyriatyn” in the source too [188:  Piotr Czepurienko – świadek zabójstwa w Piratynie, [Piotr Czepurienko – witness of the murders in Pyriatyn], in Czarna Księga, op. cit., p. 117.] 

The day after the Korets massacre, Jehudit Karsz actually volunteered for the excruciating task of filling in the graves, as she wanted to say goodbye to her father: “We saw how the layer of sand that was on top of the graves rose and fell,” she recalls. “These were the last breaths and anguish of people dying in torment. When everything settled down, we filled in the graves and said a Kaddish. That was all we could do for them.”[footnoteRef:189] Leon Blech filled a pit in Rohatyn and recalled that those who were still alive were placed on top, “in the hope that they might be able to get out of the graves in the night and return to the ghetto.”[footnoteRef:190] Many survivors did, in fact, climb out of the graves at night. After the massacre in Berdychiv on September 15, 1941 “a lot of survivors crawled out from underneath the mounds of bodies at night. The fresh air came through the loosened soil to the upper layers of those lying there and gave strength to those who were only injured, whose hearts were still beating, reviving the unconscious. They crawled out into the fields, instinctually trying to get as far away from the pits as possible. The majority of them, losing strength and bleeding out, died there, in the fields, a few dozen yards from the execution site. (…) In the morning, the Germans and police officers cleaned up the bodies; they killed those who were still breathing and reburied them.”[footnoteRef:191]	Comment by Author: Consider adding a footnote that this is the Jewish prayer for the dead.	Comment by Author: Here the source uses "Kurhan” or "Kurgan” in English. I think this word would be more understandable to a Polish reader than it would to an English reader so I have simply used "mound”	Comment by Author: The source here could literally be translated as "something-teen fathoms from…” Fathoms are not widely used in the US to measure distance, so I have opted for yards. 10-20 fathoms would be 20-40 yards. I think "few dozen yards” therefore conveys the same meaning as the source while remaining idiomatic. [189:  YVA, O3/2796 – Jehudit Karsz’s account.]  [190:  Leon Blech’s account, op. cit.]  [191:  Wasilij Grossman, Zagłada Żydów w Berdyczowie [The Holocaust in Berdychiv], in Czarna Księga, op. cit. p. 78.] 

After the executions, the surroundings were a horrifying sight. Solomon Garbel recalled that “the grass was red with blood. The whole area was covered with bodies. Brains coated the trees. By their trunks lay the ragged bodies of children, some of them torn to pieces – one leg in one place and the other somewhere else. There was a whole pile of children’s heads. There were documents, cards, photographs, and checks lying around everywhere.”[footnoteRef:192] After escaping from the fate of a mass grave, Joel Rubinsztajn returned to where his wife and twin daughters had been murdered. He saw “lots of documents, tallits, various things on the floor. Where the pit had been filled in, blood was oozing out of the ground.”[footnoteRef:193] Sara Bereth, who saw the execution site in Tłuste the day after the massacre, saw how “blood was running from it – most people were still alive, or half-alive.”[footnoteRef:194]	Comment by Author: Perhaps a footnote explaining that this is a Jewish prayer shawl. [192:  Solomon Garbel’s account, in Czarna Księga, op. cit, p. 422. ]  [193:  Joel Rubinsztajn’s account, op. cit.]  [194:  USC, VHA 2928 – Sally Eisner’s (Sara Bereth) account.] 

The gases produced by corpses were one of the reasons why the ground on top of the mass graves “moved” for a few days after the executions; many of the accounts describe this phenomenon. Doctor Baruch Milch and his wife went to the cemetery in Tłuste where their son and entire family had been murdered in the mass execution two days earlier. “It was a horrifying sight. Because of the post-mortem changes that the corpses were undergoing, the soil that had been evened out level with the surroundings rose by about a meter. In some places, parts of corpses protruded, and in a few places, blood was spurting out like a volcano and was bubbling like water boiling in a kettle. I thought to myself ‘my innocent child’s blood is also boiling here, crying out for vengeance.’”[footnoteRef:195] [195:  Baruch Milch, op. cit., p. 191.] 

Perhaps even more horrifying than the fact that the ground above the graves was moving were the sounds coming from within: “gurgling, some of them were still alive! Some of them struggled until they died. The sound was like a boiling pot of potatoes, bubbling away.”[footnoteRef:196] In Ivano-Frankivsk, “the soil was still moving the next day and cries and moans could be heard from below the soil,”[footnoteRef:197] while in Zolochiv, “at night, the inhabitants living near the castle [where the murders took place] could hear the moans of those who had survived.”[footnoteRef:198] Crying, Judit Zaterman described how after the execution in Kaunas that she managed to escape from, in the Ninth Fort where they murdered Jews, “people continued to shout from under the ground for three days and three nights […] It was the worst thing I’ve ever heard in my life, sometimes I feel like I’m in there with them […]. They did that to them. That was ten times worse than going into the furnaces. In the furnaces in Auschwitz you burn and that’s it.”[footnoteRef:199] The anxiety surrounding the certainty that being buried alive is the worst possible form of death is called taphophobia. Evidence of this phobia can also be found in the accounts analyzed. Moszek Góra, who, following the execution in the outskirts of Węgrów, “was scared that they would bury him alive” and used his eyes to show one of the Poles filling in the grave that he wasn’t dead. “One of them saw me alive and said, ‘if you’re alive then run away!’”[footnoteRef:200]	Comment by Author: There are four full stops in this ellipsis in the source. I have changed it to three in the target. This also happens elsewhere in the source. [196:  USC, VHA, 11175 – Simon Friedman’s account.]  [197:  JHIA 301/1934 – Julia Laster’s account.]  [198:  YVA O3/3302 – Menachem Dul “Z otchłani” [“From the abyss”].]  [199:  USC, VHA 41162 – Judit Zaterman’s (Druk) account.]  [200:  APS, SOS, file 652 – Moszek Góra’s testimony during the trial on May 27, 1948. ] 

The fear of being buried alive (in a state of lethargy, catatonia, or clinical death) is an age-old human fear that is also linked to more general death anxiety. Various cultural practices have been devised to cope with it, e.g., a vigil over the dead that lasts a few days (to ensure that they are indeed dead). Incidents in which people were buried prematurely occurred most often during epidemics or wars, when the dead were buried with haste, without waiting for confirmation of death. From the end of the 18th century and throughout the whole of the 19th century, being buried alive was so prevalent in European society’s imagination and culture that it not only was reflected in literature,[footnoteRef:201] but also in the invention of a whole range of practical solutions that were meant to reduce the risk of someone being buried alive.[footnoteRef:202] [201:  E.g. in E. A. Poe’s 1844 story Przedwczesny pogrzeb [The Premature Burial].]  [202:  E.g. coffins with a breathing tube or lamp, see Agnieszka Haska and Jerzy Stachowicz’s Pozornie zmarli czyli poczekalnie i supertrumny [The seemingly dead or receiving vaults and super-coffins], in Nowa Fantastyka 2010, no. 7.] 


4. Out of the grave

Not everyone who survived the executions could or wanted to leave the grave. In the grave at Zolochiv, Fela Zwilling and her sister were suffocating under corpses. “It’s quiet,” said Fela, “why don’t you give me your hand and we’ll both climb up and escape?” “And [Fela’s sister] replied, ‘How can I leave mom and the whole family?’ I said ‘Look, they’re dead either way. We might be able to survive.’ She replied ‘No, I won’t leave this place.’”[footnoteRef:203]	Comment by Author: I corrected the spelling of the surname here to "Zwilling” [203:  USC, VHA,601 – Fela Leader’s (Alfreda Fela Zwilling) account.] 

A great effort was required from those who decided to leave the grave: in his account given to the Shoah Foundation, Michael Kutz related: “I couldn’t reach [the edge of the grave], I was a young child [he was 11 years old]. So with all my strength, all my energy, I threw a couple of bodies on top of each other and made myself a kind of platform. I jumped onto it, naked, completely covered in blood, I looked around slowly – no one was there. I got out of the grave.”[footnoteRef:204] In Lida, Fiszel Białobroda wanted “to get out of the pit, but it was too deep, so I started building a pile of bodies. While I was making this pile, I happened to wake up a young boy and we climbed out of the pit together.”[footnoteRef:205] Netka Reischer found it difficult to climb out of the grave in Horodenka, not only because she was being crushed by corpses, but also because it was steep. Fortunately, another man and woman had survived in the same pit; they took the corpses off her and helped her get out.”[footnoteRef:206] Similarly, Lejb Gold in Radekhiv, who was partially covered in soil and corpses, helped Mendel Bedner, who had also survived: “One started to dig the other out and at around midnight, they got out of the pit.”[footnoteRef:207] Chena Kac in Ponary[footnoteRef:208] and Nachum Perelman in Radzyń Podlaski[footnoteRef:209] got out from under a heavy pile of bodies, while Josif Wajngertner in Kerch flung off the soil on top of him and searched for his wife in the dark: “I touched someone’s head and looked – was that my wife? It was dark. I ran my fingers along faces, maybe I could recognize her by touch. Finally, I found her. She was dead.”[footnoteRef:210]	Comment by Author: This reference number is in bold in the source. I have made it not bold in the target here and anywhere else this happens.	Comment by Author: This name seemed to be misspelt here – I have corrected it in the target [204:  Michael Kutz’s (Michał Kuc) account, op. cit.]  [205:  Fiszel Białobroda’s account, op. cit.]  [206:  Netti Kimmerling’s (Netka Reischer) account, op. cit.]  [207:  JHIA, 301/826 – Lejb Gold’s account.]  [208:  Chena Kac’s account, in Czarna Księga op. cit., p. 421.]  [209:  YVA, O3/1844 – Nachum Perelman’s account.]  [210:  Josif Wajngertner’s account, op. cit. ] 

It was especially hard for the wounded to get out of the graves. Estera Rubinsztajn recalled that she couldn’t stand up, so she “started to crawl over corpses on her front and crawled through the fields to the woods.”[footnoteRef:211] Apolonia Wiśniowska, the only survivor of an execution during the liquidation of the work camp near Stryi, was wounded in both her legs, so she “crawled to the woods on all fours.”[footnoteRef:212] Moszek Michałowski, who survived the execution in Radun, recalled: “When it all quietened down, I started to crawl, stopping every now and again because I was so weak. I was like a rooster that had not been fully killed that kept running away, falling, taking flight again. I don’t know how long I was crawling for, but suddenly I fell face-first into a puddle of water. It seemed to me that this was a miracle, that God had sent me this water. I splashed myself with the water and my energy returned.”[footnoteRef:213] [211:  Estera Rubinsztajn’s (Winderbaum) account, op. cit.]  [212:  JHIA, 301/2198 – Apolonia Wiśniowska’s account.]  [213:  YVA, O3/2815 – Moszek Michałowski’s account.] 

Most Jews left the graves naked, so they tried to find some clothing for themselves. Lejb Gold and Mendel Bedner “found two peasant coats in a wooden building near the woods,”[footnoteRef:214] while Chena Kac found “a shirt and an old coat” at the graveside.[footnoteRef:215] After leaving the grave at the cemetery in Ivano-Frankivsk, Rita Felczer returned to the ghetto and “found a coat on the way, which I threw over my naked body.”[footnoteRef:216] Pola Kronisch, who survived on an ice floe on the Baltic coast, took a dead woman’s shoes once she’d gotten out of the water.[footnoteRef:217] Maria Berger, who escaped from a grave near Stepan, recalls: “I left [the grave] naked, without anything, it was really dark. I ran forward and saw a dead woman, (…) I took her clothes to cover myself. A dog was eating her feet.”[footnoteRef:218]	Comment by Author: I have changed this to "Mendel Bedner” to reflect how his name is spelt above	Comment by Author: I have changed the spelling of this surname to match the reference spelling [214:  Lejb Gold’s account, op. cit.]  [215:  Chena Kac’s account, op. cit.]  [216:  Rita Felczer’s account, op. cit.]  [217:  Pola Kronisch’s account, op. cit.]  [218:  USC, VHA 32398 – Maria Bella Berger’s (Miriam Bebczuk) account.] 

Escapees reached towns and villages sometimes in clothes they had found, sometimes naked, sometimes completely covered in blood. They evoked horror and fear. In Jordanów, no one wanted to take in Tinberg, who had been shot in the leg and face and had fled the grave at night. “The next day he turned himself into the police and they shot him.”[footnoteRef:219] After fleeing his execution site, Izaak Michałowski came across three Poles who told him go back to where he came from; two of them grabbed him under the arms and started to pull him towards the grave. Then Izaak, all bloodied, asked them whether he reminded them of Jesus Christ after he had been taken down from the cross. His attackers let him go and he managed to reach a Polish woman he knew, who fainted as soon as she saw him.[footnoteRef:220] Jews who had run away from the grave and were all bloody, and often also naked, looked more like ghosts than like Jesus when they appeared at the thresholds of Christian homes. They could even have been mistaken for vampires, who were distinctive characters in popular demonology. According to folklore, a vampire was most often a person who had died a bad death or who had not been given the appropriate death rituals, meaning that they found themselves in the liminal space between this world and the next. A vampire usually haunted the living and drew vital strength from them, mainly by drinking their blood, or biting or killing victims. In Jewish folklore, this possession of another body is the job of dybbuks – the soul of a dead person that has left the dead body but cannot yet leave this world. It therefore enters the body of another, to atone for their sins, settle any debts, or exact revenge. 	Comment by Author: I’m not sure if this is missing a first/last name –please consider checking [219:  JHIA, 301/3453 – Ozjasz Szachner’s account.]  [220:  Zvi Michaeli’s (Izaak Michałowski) account, op. cit. His account was adapted and immortalized in literature by Yaffa Eliach in the story, “Żydzie, wracaj do grobu!” [“Jew, Go Back to the Grave!”], see also Eliach’s Chasydzkie opowieści z czasów Holokaustu [Hasidic Tales from the Holocaust], Nomos, Kraków, 2014, pp. 83–84.] 

The Germans searched for those who had fled the mass graves. It is difficult to say whether they did this because they feared information about the murders circulating among the Jews, thus spreading fear or potential resistance and making the torturers have to work harder during any subsequent “actions,” or if it had more to do with fulfilling their duty, finishing the “job.” After fleeing the grave, Moszek Michałowski returned to Radun and remembers: “At the entrance to the ghetto, a police officer caught me and said, ‘you escaped the pits!’ I wasn’t allowed to live. The Germans were meant to kill me and I had run away.”[footnoteRef:221] On December 3 and 4, 1941, 2,500 Jews were murdered in Horodenka. Seven people survived under corpses and then returned to the city. News of them reached the Germans, who “got angry and reported the Kolomyia Gestapo, who had shot poorly.” A search for the survivors began and four people were found and executed on the spot. In Ivano-Frankivsk, one of the survivors of the mass murder in March 1942, dragged herself to the ghetto at night, but “the next day, the gendarme Długosz came to get her on a cart and took her back to the mass grave.”[footnoteRef:222]	Comment by Author: There was no closing quotation mark for this quote in the source. I assumed it would have been here.	Comment by Author: This preceding paragraph seems out of place and breaks up the train of thought – it should probably be placed earlier in the text. [221:  Moszek Michałowski’s account, op. cit.]  [222:  Leon Blech’s account, op. cit.] 

People’s horror at the appearance of Jews who had escaped the graves came not only from the fear of being executed for helping them. It seems that, at least at first, they sometimes were genuinely afraid that they were spirits or vampires. Those who had escaped could indeed look like one: “I was soaked in blood, my shoes fell off, I was barefoot,” recalled Slava Fintel. “My hair was covered in blood (…) it froze into icicles, red icicles. (…) the woman [who opened the door] must have thought that I was the devil or something.”[footnoteRef:223] [223:  Slava Fintel’s (Cymer) account, op. cit] 

Karol Kohn ran away from the execution site in Peremyshliany naked and caked with “blood and bits of people’s bodies, because the Germans herded everyone into the grave and then threw in grenades and some kind of bombs, so that blood and flesh sprayed out everywhere.” He stumbled into the courtyard of a farm, where a group of workers were working, overseen by a German. “When they saw me,” recalled Kohn, “they ran in terror, they didn’t know what kind of animal it was that had come into the farmyard, that’s how bad I looked. Even the German ran away, as well as the dog by the gate.”[footnoteRef:224] After fleeing the grave in Sarny, Mania Błotnik “was completely covered in blood, people were scared of her and thought she was a ghost. They said: ‘Why are you scaring people?’ ‘Leave this place!’”[footnoteRef:225] Rita Felczer, who survived the massacre in Ivano-Frankivsk, recalled that after she ran away from the cemetery in the night, she knocked on the door of a woman living nearby, who “got so frightened that she started to recite the prayer of eternal rest.”[footnoteRef:226] In his account, Moszek Michałowski describes how he stopped at a cabin after he fled the grave. The woman lying by the fireplace, “cried out, ‘Oh Jesus. The devil is here!’ She fainted (…). The goy started to revive his wife and said, ‘calm down my dear, it’s nothing, they’re just murdering Jews!’” They helped Moszek and gave him water, so that he could clean his wound; the peasant, “gave me one of his old linen coats and I looked like another person. They also fed me bread, cheese and milk.”[footnoteRef:227]	Comment by Author: I have opted to use "farm” instead of "folwark” here as I don’t think most English reader would know what a "folwark” is and it does not add much extra in terms of information.	Comment by Author: Perhaps add a footnote explaining that this is a derogatory Jewish term for a non-Jew.	Comment by Author: Instead of using "siermięga” here, I opted for "linen coat” [224:  JHIA 301/2842 – Karol Kohn’s account.]  [225:  Miriam Rothstein’s (Mania Błotnik) account, op. cit.]  [226:  Rita Felczer’s account, op. cit.]  [227:  Moszek Michałowski’s account, op.cit.] 

The majority of those who escaped the graves in the accounts analyzed here received help, sometimes after some unsuccessful attempts, that allowed them to survive. There is a lot of information on this subject in the testimonies– it seems that the way the survivors were received back into the world of the living meant a lot to them. Help was often given after initial fear was overcome. For example, a Polish woman near Treblinka let Simon Friedman into her house despite her fear for her own life: “She took a pot with water, washed [it], gave him some clean rags, a piece of bread,”[footnoteRef:228] and asked him to run away. Falik Goldstein, who was “naked and covered in blood” after the liquidation of the work camp near Częstochowa, knocked on the door of a frightened peasant who “let me eat, gave me a bed and clothing.”[footnoteRef:229] “An unknown Pole” let Ponary escapee Motel Gdud in: “He checked my wound and gave me clothes,” and let him stay and fed him.[footnoteRef:230] Unknown women helped Josif Wajngertner in Kerch: “They took off my shirt, which was covered in blood, smeared iodine into my wounds, put a fresh shirt on, fed me, gave me a hat.”[footnoteRef:231] Zelda Kaczerewicz, who survived an execution in which she lost three children, was helped by priest Kruszewski in the village of Jabłoń-Dobki,[footnoteRef:232] while 11-year-old Michał Kuc was helped by nuns from Nesvizh. After fleeing the grave naked, he ran to a convent, where the nuns clothed, washed and fed him.[footnoteRef:233] [228:  Simon Friedman’s account, op. cit.]  [229:  USC, VHA, 55011 – Frank Gorme’s (Falik Goldstein) account.]  [230:  Motel Gdud’s account, op. cit.]  [231:  Josif Wajngertner’s account, op. cit.]  [232:  JHIA, 301/2246 – Zelda Kaczerewicz’s account.]  [233:  Michael Kutz’s (Michał Kuc) account, op. cit.] 

Salomon Szlakman and Joel Cymerman encountered genuine sympathy after escaping the grave in Slonim – upon seeing them, the owner of a hut that they called at “cried dreadfully: ‘What have they done…?’ First of all, he gave us water so that we could clean off the blood. Then he gave us bread with lard. He let us sleep in his house rather than in the barn, where he stood watch all night. In the morning, he took us to Slonim on winding roads.”[footnoteRef:234] Eva Miriam Gabor, who survived the massacre at the Danube, swam to the shore of the river. Then, as she tells it: “A miracle occurred. I was trembling from the cold in my clothing, which was soaked with water, (…) not knowing what to do, where to go, alone, crying… and suddenly I felt a blanket on my shoulders. I don’t know if it was a Jew (…) or a goy, all I remember is that this green-black blanket was on me and that he told me to run. I have no idea who he was, may God bless him.” [footnoteRef:235]	Comment by Author: Dresie technically translates as tracksuit, which likely did not exist then. Clothing has been used. Perhaps because dresie refers to a certain subculture, the word rags or ragged clothing [234:  Salomon Szlakman, “Żądam sprawiedliwości…,” op. cit.]  [235:  USC, VHA 8455 – Eva Marie Foti’s (Eva Miriam Gabor) account.] 

Another encounter with anonymous goodwill, which took place in meaningful silence, was described by Joel Rubinsztajn, an escapee from the grave at Ostroh. When he ran into the woods, he sat under a tree and cried. “Suddenly I heard the rattling of wheels and the smell of horses,” he recalls “ (…) I saw an old peasant, sitting on the cart. I walked into the road and stood in the middle, not saying a word. The peasant looked at me. He didn’t say anything. He took off his coat and gave it to me. Then he took out some bread and, still silent, gave it to me. I stood there, mute.”[footnoteRef:236] 	Comment by Author: I think ‘po’ should be ‘pod’ in the source here
	Comment by Author: The source text literally translates to "I heard… the smell”. I have kept this in the target. [236:  Joel Rubinsztajn’s account, op. cit.] 

Those who managed to survive under the corpses most frequently returned to their loved ones, to the ghettos, wherever they still existed. They wanted to tell people what had happened to them, they wanted to warn others. However, the stories of those who survived the graves were initially met with disbelief. Having survived under corpses in Nadvirna in September 1931, Emil Brigg returned home. Dr. Berensztajn, who checked his wounds, couldn’t believe what Brigg was saying: “He kept asking me if I was mistaken, because ‘it couldn’t be true that around 1,000 people could be buried in two pits.’” The doctor decided “that I had obviously gone into shock after hitting my head, so I didn’t understand what I was saying.”[footnoteRef:237] No one wanted to believe Icyk Bloch, who escaped the Ninth Fort in Kaunas: “everyone thought that the boy had gone crazy.”[footnoteRef:238] A man who fled Ponary and warned others to not let themselves be taken there because they would be killed was taken to be a madman who “didn’t know what he was saying. No one wanted to believe that they could kill that many people.”[footnoteRef:239] [237:  Emil Brigg’s account, op. cit. ]  [238:  Meir Jelin, Forty śmierci koło Kowna [The Death Fort near Kaunas], in Czarna Księga, op. cit., p. 523.]  [239:  USC, VHA 29242 – Mli Orbach (Malka Giszyn).] 

Surviving a mass grave could undoubtedly upset one’s mental balance. After Klara Sznajd fled the grave “she returned home and was completely crazy.”[footnoteRef:240] Similarly, an unknown girl in Kosovo “went insane [after digging herself out] from under other bodies.”[footnoteRef:241] One woman who woke up under a heap of corpses in the night after the mass execution in Dub in autumn 1942 fled the grave naked. “Some merciful person gave her a skirt and a bag to cover herself with. The woman was going insane. She was walking across fields half-naked, waving her hand in the direction of the brightly shining moon, as if to blame it for what had happened. She walked around like that for two days. In the end (…), someone from the village, probably the mayor, informed the police. The police officer who came took the woman back to one of the pits, this time to finally solve the Jewish problem.”[footnoteRef:242] [240:  YVA, O3/3080 – Lola Reichler’s account.]  [241:  JHIA 301/3314 – Zofia Skalska’s (Nimen) account.]  [242:  Artur Schneider, Jak ścigane zwierzę [Like hunted animals], Lublin 2003, pp. 152–153.] 


5. Summary
By analyzing the experiences of survivors of mass executions, even a small, unrepresentative group, we not only become aware that a large portion of the Holocaust’s victims died precisely in this way – which was, for the author, the hardest part of working on this text – but also that many of the victims were buried alive. Among the 1.5 to 2 million Jews murdered in this way, tens or perhaps even hundreds of thousands suffocated to death in mass graves. [footnoteRef:243] This challenges our views of death during the Holocaust: it emerges that being buried alive and suffocating in a mass grave was one way Jews died during this time. Of those who did not die, only a few managed to escape their graves; a small group of those “buried alive” lived to recount their experience. If it weren’t for these people, we wouldn’t know what mass executions looked like from the victims’ perspectives. [243:  Even if it was not 30%, as stated by Herman Steinkhol earlier in the text, but just 3% of the people in the pits that remained fully alive or were only wounded in mass executions, that would represent 45–60 thousand people among the murdered. ] 

Ninety-one accounts from these people were analyzed; an attempt has been made to present this experience based mainly on these accounts. This was difficult, not only because of the extreme brutality of their experience, but, above all, because the descriptions of the experience of surviving under corpses were most often purely factual and not very expansive. The nature of these reports has nothing to do with the moment in which the account was given (just after the war, or many years after the war[footnoteRef:244]), its type (written by the author, recounted to someone else or recorded on video), or its structure (free retelling or chronological interview). The unemotional nature of the descriptions is also not related to gender – both men and women[footnoteRef:245] view the experience of surviving under corpses more like just one of the events that they endured during the period of Nazi occupation rather than a separate, unique experience of metanoia. 	Comment by Author: Will your readership know the meaning of this term? Is it really appropriate here, as it means a transformative, spiritual awakening? [244:  Of the 91 accounts, 15 were recorded before 1945, 27 in 1945–1950, 3 in 1950–60, 10 in 1960–1970, one in 1980–1990, 32 in 1990–2000 (these are all the USC interviews), and 3 after 2000. ]  [245:  The 91 first-hand accounts analyzed included 39 women and 52 men.] 

Two themes appear to be particularly salient for these survivors, at least in the accounts analyzed. The first is the setting of the massacre and the fear of death, and the second is the help survivors received from people immediately after escaping from their graves; that is, the circumstances surrounding saying goodbye to life and then the help provided upon being welcomed back into it. Anxiety around dying by the hand of a human and the subsequent re-entry into the world thanks to the goodwill of fellow man – survival suspended between the extremes of the human capacity for good and bad. Although according to psychologists, bad leaves a stronger impression in the mind than good,[footnoteRef:246] in the survivors’ accounts, we can see how little was required (old clothes, a glass of milk, kind words) to restore Jews’ faith in the existence of good.  [246:  Baumeister, Roy F., et al., “Bad is Stronger Than Good,” Review of General Psychology, no. 5 (2001), pp. 323–370. ] 

Those who managed to flee the graves did so at different points in their own lives and at various stages of the Holocaust. For some, it occurred at the very beginning of German persecution and, for others, in the final moments. After leaving the grave, Jews focused on practical matters: healing (physical) wounds and continuing to fight to survive. Izydor Zwerling in Radekhiv recalled: “I was shot in the leg (…) After I got better I started working in the bakery again.”[footnoteRef:247] Twelve-year-old Anselm Landesmann was wounded in the head while fleeing the graveside at Ternopil: when the “Germans left, I stood up and walked to the hospital, where they bandaged my head. I returned home; my parents weren’t there anymore and I stayed at a friend’s house.”[footnoteRef:248] [247:  Izydor Zwerling’s account, op. cit.]  [248:  JHIA, 301/905 – Anselm Landesmann’s account.] 

The descriptions of surviving mass graves analyzed here are usually limited to factual accounts; they tend to talk about behavior rather than emotion. If surviving under corpses caused some kind of transformation, then external evidence of this was found in only a few accounts. For Emil Brigg, it was a “terrible shock, after which I got my first gray hairs”;[footnoteRef:249] Anna Lempert also went gray.[footnoteRef:250] The loss of loved ones seems to evoke more emotion than one’s own survival. In Horynhrad, Aron Winicer escaped from under corpses and returned to his family: “They were really happy to see me (…), but I was sad, because I had lost my wife and son. I had no peace of mind from that moment, I only thought about revenge. I started trying to rally people to gather arms and go into the woods.”[footnoteRef:251] In this case, the loss of their family, rather than their own experience of surviving, was the more traumatic event that was more likely to change a survivor’s life. Moszek Michałowski felt similarly; he recalled that after fleeing the grave, he was lying in a stable at night, “wounded, bloody and in pain. I started thinking then that I was now alone in this world, without my wife. With no children, no house, no bread. Dear God, I exclaimed, why didn’t they kill me? Why didn’t I die with my loved ones?”[footnoteRef:252]  [249:  Emil Brigg’s account, op. cit. ]  [250:  Anna Lempert’s account, op. cit.]  [251:  Aron Winicer ‘s account, op. cit.]  [252:  Moszek Michałowski’s account, op. cit.] 

Only a few accounts (given after many years) contained reflections on the person’s own survival. Henri Zonus told his interviewer: “When they started to shoot, I fell before the others did, the bullets didn’t even scratch me, (…) You know I’ve wondered so many times how I wasn’t hit. (…) I believe that the angels protected me. I assure you; I believe that death didn’t want me, you know.”[footnoteRef:253] [253:  USC, VHA 4349 – Henri Zonus’s (Zvi Blumenfeld) account.] 

Others also view their survival as a miracle, including Eva Miriam Gabor,[footnoteRef:254] who survived the massacre on the banks of the Danube in Budapest, Jankiel Moskovitz, who survived under corpses following an execution during a death march,[footnoteRef:255] and Helena Bibliowicz in Grodno, who said that “the Almighty God ensured” her survival and that, even though she wasn’t religious, the first thought she had when she woke up under the corpses was to thank God for the miracle of her survival.[footnoteRef:256] Likewise, Zalman Teichman, a Talmud student from Tuska in Ukraine before the war, was sure that God was watching over him during the whole occupation, not just during his execution: “When Divine Providence decides that someone should live, all of the bullets in the world can’t kill them. Apparently, the deeds of my ancestors’ achievements protected me, because my life was constantly under threat but I survived.”[footnoteRef:257] [254:  Eva Marie Foti’s (Eva Miriam Gabor) account, op. cit.]  [255:  USC, VHA 4351 – Jacek (Jankiel) Moskovitz’s account.]  [256:  Helena Bibliowicz’s account, op. cit.]  [257:  Zalman Teichman’s account, op. cit.] 

It is possible that the older the survivor, the more prone they are to reflection. Of the authors of the accounts analyzed, 19 people were under 15 at the time of the events described, 20 were 15–20 years old, 28 were 20–30 years old and another 20 were 30–40 years old. Only four survivors were over forty.[footnoteRef:258] Young people who were giving accounts after the war were more concerned with life itself than with reflecting upon it. In accounts given many years after the war, by people who were now older, there are more general comments relating to surviving the Holocaust in general, not necessarily the act of surviving in graves.[footnoteRef:259] In two factual accounts given after the war,[footnoteRef:260] painter Jonasz Stern provides few sentences about surviving under corpses, presenting it as one of many events he experienced under occupation. More emotion is evoked by his losing his wife, who died concealing herself with “Aryan” papers. However, in 1988, in his last interview before he died, Stern said: “Now, as I am becoming more and more ill, these feelings are coming out. Even though I survived in such a remarkable way, I wasn’t really saved.”[footnoteRef:261]	Comment by Author: I have rephrased this in English to make it clearer that "20 było poniżej 20 roku życia” means that those people were aged between 15 and 20 years, rather than that figure including everyone under 20.	Comment by Author: I understand that Stern here means that even though he technically survived, his life was lacking afterwards because of the loss of his wife. I believe I have represented this in the target. [258:  I found exact dates of birth for 76 of the authors of the accounts. The 13 others I defined somewhat arbitrarily on the basis of information I had (“boy,” “teacher,” “mother of 5 children,” etc.).]  [259:  This could also arise from the contexts in which the Holocaust was discussed, e.g. in interviews for the Shoah Foundation, there were obligatory questions about a “message to the world” and “lessons from the Holocaust.” Even if these did not exist, interviewees could still have felt a duty to tell some kind of universal truth. ]  [260:  JHIA, 301/4689 and 301/3730 – accounts from 1945 and 1948. The second account does not include mention of his wife, it mainly discusses the Janówska camp.]  [261:  Ostatni wywiad z Jonaszem Sternem, op.cit.] 

It is possible that the dry, matter-of-fact nature of the language found in the accounts analyzed can be attributed to a lack of appropriate words that would allow these experiences to be adequately described. Some went beyond language – Jonasz Stern expressed his experience in paintings. Art historians note that up to the beginning of the 1960s, Stern’s “artistic creations seem free of any recollections of war.” In 1962, Stern started to create a collection of collages titled Wyniszczenie [Destruction] “that are a reflection of the artist’s tragic ordeals.”[footnoteRef:262] This is connected to Stern’s travels to Lviv and visit to the ravine in which he was shot and survived. The highlight of the collection is considered to be the piece Dół [The Pit], which “according to Stern, ‘abstractly represented the moment at which the artist was shot alongside his people.’”[footnoteRef:263] In later years, Stern created more images that depicted his experience of the Holocaust in a language other than words: Tablica czerwona [The Red Board], Upokorzenie [Humiliation], Rok 1941 i 1942 w Kałuszu [1941 and 1942 in Kalush]. Another artist who survived a mass execution was painter and drawer Maryan S. Maryan (Pinchas Burstein), who also illustrated his experience of the war without words.[footnoteRef:264] [262:  Cited in Helena Blum, Jonasz Stern, WL, Kraków 1978, p. 37. Anna Markowska also writes about the change in Stern’s art in the 1960s in Wyprowadzenie z piekła w sztuce Jonasza Sterna [Exiting the grave in Jonasz Stern’s art], in Roczniki Humanistyczne, v. XLVII, issue 4, 1999.]  [263:  Cited in H. Blum, op. cit., p. 40.]  [264:  See Ewa Andrzejewska, op. cit. ] 

Some of those “buried alive” didn’t want to talk about their experiences at all. Samuel Rosen recalls his acquaintance Mandel, the sole survivor of the mass execution in Buchach in 1941, who “now lives in Poland [and] doesn’t want to tell anyone about his experience. No one knows that he has a Jewish background. He says that he escaped the grave and is another person now, and that’s how he wants to be seen.”[footnoteRef:265] Much has been written on the topic of Holocaust survivors’ silence, and this phenomenon has been interpreted in a variety of ways:[footnoteRef:266] it is possible that their experience is simply inexpressible, impossible to recount, or that language is not a sufficiently comprehensive tool to describe it, that words can’t convey all of their emotions, experiences and meanings. Survivors’ silence may be the result of the fact that the world did not want to listen to them, that there was a lack of “empathetic listeners,”[footnoteRef:267] or from the huge weight and psychological trauma that the Holocaust represents for many people. No matter the reasons behind it, this silence arguably also reveals a lot about experiences during World War II.  [265:  YVA, O3.2055 – Samuel Rosen’s account from 1961. Mandel’s silence can be understood as a consequence of an identity change – if he wanted to be seen as a Pole then he probably concealed all of his experiences from the war, not just this single experience.]  [266:  Among others, see M. Blanchot, The Writing of the Disaster, translated by A. Smock, New Edition, London: Lincoln, 1995; After the Holocaust: Challenging the Myth of Silence, ed. David Cesarani, Eric J. Sundquist, London: Routledge 2011; Berel Lang, Przedstawianie zła: etyczna treść i literacka forma [Presenting bad: ethical content and literary form], in Literatura na świecie no. 01–02/2004 (390–391), pp. 15–64; Lawrence L. Langer, Świadectwa Zagłady. W rumowisku pamięci [Experiences of the Holocaust in the Rubble of Memory], ŻIH, Warszawa, 2015.]  [267:  Among others, see D. Laub, Bearing Witness or the Vicissitudes of Listening [in] S. Felman, D. Laub (ed.) Testimonies: Crises of Witnessing in Literature, Psychoanalysis, and History. New York, London: Routledge, 1992.] 

On the basis of the accounts analyzed, it is also not possible to say that surviving the grave is accompanied by “an indelible scar – the trauma of resurrection,” as described by Jacek Leociak.[footnoteRef:268] Nothing in the analyzed accounts indicates that those who survived under corpses became “irreparably changed.” In addition, there is no way to ascertain whether any potential “change” they did undergo was determined by the experience of surviving in a mass grave or by the experience of the Holocaust as a whole. We expect that people who survived under corpses are changed forever after their experience. We anticipate that their experience in the grave inevitably changes them as a person, that it is impossible to come out of this limit situation unscathed, when these situations “are decisive in our lives. (…) They are like walls that we hit ourselves against, walls which we break ourselves on.”[footnoteRef:269] It would appear, however, that these are in fact just expectations, as well as a reflection of our own anxieties. “Limit situation” is an ambiguous category – there is no way to determine what this kind of situation would be for each person. In the accounts analyzed, no evidence was found that surviving under corpses led to a better understanding of oneself, or that it enabled survivors to have some more “authentic” view of the world. Despite what Karl Jaspers may suggest, it’s difficult to find some kind of existential revelation, gain clarity of self-knowledge or experience transcendence or the metaphysical by being “buried alive.”	Comment by Author: Perhaps define this for your reader, as a situation in which an individual has extraordinary experiences , identified by the psychologist Karl Jaspers (this is important, as he is mentioned later and this needs to be explained) either in the text or in a footnote, as it is a term of art [268:  See Jacek Leociak op. cit.]  [269:  Karl Jaspers, Sytuacje graniczne [Limit Situations], trans. A. Staniewska, M. Skwieciński. [in] R. Rudziński, Jaspers. Wybór pism [A Selection of Writing], Warszawa: Wiedza Powszechna, 1978 p. 188. ] 

It’s possible that a lack of appropriate words for describing one’s own experience is one of the reasons for the laconic and behavioral description of the accounts presented here. Analyzing them, it is evident how much the experience of being “buried alive” is trapped in imposed interpretations. It can be seen how this type of survival is included in the cultural cannon, shaped by literature and psychology, through stories, popular imagination and anxieties. The survivors are burdened with some obligation to “change.”[footnoteRef:270] While curious readers or listeners would like to learn what the survivors felt in these unique situations, they already apply their preconceptions and expectations to the accounts.  [270:  See the literary interpretations in Jacek Leociak’s text, op. cit.] 

[bookmark: _GoBack]However, when we treat what those who were “buried alive” say with respect, if we disregard our interpretations and preconceptions, we can then recognize that existing in and surviving those graves is an experience that transcends culture, words, names, categorization, even beyond known feelings, including fear. It is a biological and instinctual existence in which one does not think – it’s empty. It is a place in which a person limited to physicality is literally and symbolically confronted with naked existence. It could be precisely for this reason that, as with the majority of the accounts analyzed in this text, the only way of talking about the experience is purely factual. There is nothing more to say. 
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